«*'MPDUGSMUONNT

INVESTIGATION REPORT ON THE OPERATION OF THE

CHAPLAINCY SERVICES WITHIN FIVE GOVERNMENT
RURAL SCHOOLS OF THE NORTHERN TERRITORY

Pursuant to Section 26 of the Ombudsman (Northern Territory) Act any information or
document obtained during an investigation is not admissible in any proceedings before a
Court, Tribunal or Board except for the prosecution of a person for an offence under the
Ombudsman (Northern Territory) Act.

R " |
ﬁ/i,% -:‘»#“““/"/

CAROLYN RICHARDS
Ombudsman

November 2010






Contents

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMIMARY .....ccceuuemmmmmememmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnne 5
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS .....cceuiiiieiiiiinniiiieniiiiesiiiisssisisasostsssostssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnes 10
3.0 BACKGROUND ...ccuuiiiiiniiiiieniiiiieniiiieniiiiesiosisssiosissssostsassosssssssssssssssssssssssssnssssssssssssssssssssssssssanse 16
4.0 ISSUES FOR INVESTIGATION ....ciuiiiiiieiiiiieiiiieniiiiiensiiiiessisiiesssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnssssssnss 18
5.0 AGENCY AND JURISDICTION................. N 18
6.0 PRELIMINARY ENQUIRIES AND INVESTIGATION .....ccoitiiiimmmniiiiniiiennnnssssnimeessssssssssssssssssssssssns 18
7.0 DRAFT REPORT ...ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnssssssssssessssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssasssssssssesssssssssssssasssssssssssssasassens 19
8.0 SOURCES OF INFORMATION ......ccccveteeerereeeeeeeeeeemmmemesesseessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses 19
9.0 THE COMPLAINANTS ...ciiiuiiiitniiiiieniiiieniiiiessisisessissmessisssessisssssssssessssssssssssssassssssnssssssnssssssnnsas 21
9.1 COMPLAINANT A — HUMPTY DOO PRIMARY SCHOOL AND TAMINMIN HIGH SCHOOL .....uuuuuuniiiiiiiiannennanannnnnnns 21
9.2 COMPLAINANT B - HUMPTY DOO PRIMARY SCHOOL ...uuuuuuuuuuuuuunununnnnensnrsrsssssssrsssseresessnnnnnnnnnnsnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnns 24
9.3 COMPLAINANT C - HUMPTY DOO PRIMARY SCHOOL ....uuuuuuuuuuuuuuurnnunneninrsrsrsrsinrssesesesessnennnnnnnnsnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnns 26
9.4 COMPLAINANT D — BERRY SPRINGS PRIMARY SCHOOL AND TAMINMIN HIGH SCHOOL ....cceeuvveeerirreeeeivee e, 31
10.0 THE WITNESSES .....oouiiiiiiiiinisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnsnne 34
10.1 WITNESS A - BEES CREEK PRIMARY SCHOOL ..veeiuuvteeeietieeeetreseseteeessseesasssesessnssesesssessasssesessssssssnssesssnnes 34
10.2 WITNESS B - BEES CREEK PRIMARY SCHOOL COUNCIL MEMBER 2007-2009 ......ccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeee, 35
10.3 WITNESS C - GIRRAWEEN PRIMARY SCHOOL COUNCIL MEMBER 2007-2008 .......cccceeeviiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeen, 36
10.4 WITNESS D - BERRY SPRINGS PRIMARY SCHOOL COUNCIL MEMBER 2006-2008 ..........ccoeovvviiieiieeeeeeeeeeeen, 38
10.5 MV ITNESS E oo e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e s e s e s e s e s e s e aa s e e eaaaeaaeaeaeeaaeaeaaaeaaaaaaeas 39
10.6 WITNESS F - BERRY SPRINGS PRIMARY SCHOOL COUNCIL FOR 3 MONTHS. .e.uvvvieeereeeeereeessnereessnseeeessseeesnnnns 40
10.7 SIGNED STATEMENT DATED 27 OCTOBER 2007 ....vvveeitieeeeieieresiiteeeestteeeessresessnnesesesssessssssesessssssssssessannes 41
10.8 SIGNED STATEMENT DATED 17 NOVEMBER 2007 ...eeeiuvvieieierieesieteeeeiteeeeieteeessnseeseessseessssesesssnesssssesesnnes 41
11.0 THE STUDENT POPULATION ....... eeeeeeereeeeeee e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeseeeeseeesessesessesesesssssssssasans 42
12.0 RESULTS OF ISSUES INVESTIGATED ......ccccuiiiittniiiiieniiiiieniiiiiesiiiiessissiessssimssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnss 44
ISSUE 1. THE PROCESSES AND PROCEDURES ASSOCIATED WITH THE NSCP AND COMPLIANCE WITH THE
APPLICABLE INSTRUMENTS, GUIDELINES AND CODE BY DET.....cccccctttuniiinenninnenncsnenssssensnsenes 44
12.1.1 POLICE CLEARANCE CHECKS veuvvtteettreeessrseesassseesasseeesssessassssessansssesssssssssssessssssssesssssssessssessnsssseessnsnes 45
12.1.2 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING/GUIDELINES FOR CHAPLAINCIES IN NORTHERN TERRITORY GOVERNMENT
1Y 2 oo SRS 48
12.1.3 CONFLICT OF INTEREST/DUTY OF CARE.....0eeiuteeteeeteeeteeeteesseesseesseessseesssseessseessssesssssssessssessssessssesssseens 51
12.1.3.1 Information about person on the Sex Offender REGISter............cc.uueeeeeecceiueeeeeeeeeciireeeeeeeeeeennes 52
12.1.4 STUDENT RECORDS. .. etiiieieieieieieeeeeeeeesee s e s e sesesese e s e e e e eeeeeeeaeeeeaaeeeesesaeaeasasasaasasasasasasasaaaaaaasaaeaseseeenens 59
12.1.4.1 Retention of StuUdent iNfOrMQALION ............ccueeeeiuiiieeiie et et tee et eeestee e e saee e snsaeeenereeeennnns 59
12.1.4.2 Access to StUdent INFOrMALION ..............oooeeieeeeirieieee et eeere e e e e e e eetaae e e e e e e eeannnees 62
12.1.5 ACCESS TO STUDENTS AND LOCATION OF SERVICES...cc.utveeeeiereresueeeesssseeeesssesessssesessssnsesesssssessssnssssssesesnnes 64
12.1.6 PROSELYTISING ...uvvveeiutteeeeeteeeeeueseessuseesasssaeesasssassessseesassseesasssseassseseesnsseesanssssssnsseesessnsssesnnssesssnseeennn 67
12.1.6.1 Distribution of Bibles at Taminmin High SCROOI..................ccccuviieiiiiiiiiieeecee e 68
12.1.6.2 RelIGIOUS POSEEIS .....veeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeccte e e e e e e et e e e e e e ettt aa e e e e e eeeettaaeeeeeeeeestsseeeeeeeeensrnnees 68
12.1.6.3 DiSCUSSIONS WItH SEUGEGNTS ........ocooeeeeiieee ettt ettt e e e et e e e e e e eetaaaeeeeeeeearnnees 68
12.1.6.4 Attempted CONtACE WIth PAIENTS............occueeeeeiiieeeciee ettt e ettt e e te e e eteeeesereeeessaeeesnseeesssseeeennnns 69
12.1.7 DEALING WITH COMPLAINTS. ¢1tttttrererereeereeeeeereeeesereretereresesesesessrsmeseseseresessseeeseeeseeetereterereseteteseseeerersrenen 69
12.1.7.1 Humpty DOO Primary SCROOL............cc...ooocuueeeeieieeeeee ettt e e e e aae e e e va e e eiveaeeeanns 70
Attempted industrial action targeted at children of complainants’..........cccooooiiiiiiiiiiieeceeeee s 72
12.1.7.2 Berry Springs Primary SCROOI...........cc..ooocueeeeiiiie e ettt e e e e e eaae e e savaaeeveaeeeanns 73
12.1.7.3 Bees Creek Primary SCROOL............ccccouueeeieeeeeecieee ettt e et e e e e e eetara e e e e e e eeanaaees 74
12.1.7.4 GirraWeen Primary SCROO ...............cccueeeieiieeeciieeee ettt e e ettt e e e e e etara e e e e e eeannnees 74
12.1.7.5 Taminmin High SCROOI ................cooccoueeeieeieeeiiieeee et e e ettt e e e e e e e etara e e e e e e eearnnees 74
12.1.7.6 Department of EAUCation ANd TIrAINING ..............oooeeeeeeciieeeeee e eeeeccaeee e e e e eeecareeeeeeeeeenanees 74
12.1.8 CHAPLAIN CONDUCT vttt iuttteeesuteeeesesesesuseeessseesasssssesssssssssssessasssssessssseessssessssssssessssssessassssesssssesennes 75
12.1.9 PARENT PETITIONS AND SURVEYS .....eeeiuteeeaiureeessurseesssseesasssseessssessessssesessssssesnssssssssesssssssssssnssssessseseses 77
12.1.9.1 Humpty DOO Primary SCROON............ccc.oooocueeeeiieie ettt ettt e e eaae e e eavee e eveaeeeanns 78
12.1.9.2 Berry Springs Primary SCROO..............ueeueeei oottt e e e e et ea e e e eeaannees 80
12.1.9.3 GirraWeen Primary SCROO ................uueeeieeieeeciieeee e eeeecee e e e et e e e e e eetaae e e e e e e eeannnees 81



ISSUE 2. INFORMED CONSENT AND MONITORING OF CONSENT FOR SERVICES PROVIDED UNDER NSCP

AND PRE-NSCP CHAPLAINCY SERVICES TO STUDENTS. ...ccccotiiiisnnnrerinssssssssnneessssssssssnnsssssssssnes 84

12.2.1 (0] 1N 0] N o U 1 SO PP P T PUPTOPP 85
12.2.1.1 Taminmin High SCROOI ................oooeeiuueeeie ettt e e ettt e e e e e e e taaa e e e e e e eeanenees 85
12.2.1.2 HUmMPty DOO PrimMQry SCROO..............uueeeeeeieecieeeee ettt e e e et e e e e e eeannaees 88
12.2.1.3 Berry SPrings Primary SCROOI............c..uuoicuieeeeiiieeectie e eeiteeeetteeeetee e eveeeeeteeeesnssaeesnseeesssseeennnnns 89
12.2.1.4 Bees Creek Primary SCROOL..............cccouuioicuieeaecieee e e et e et e et e e e e aae e e savaeeeaveeeeeanns 92
12.2.1.5 Girraween Primary SCROOI ..............cccooeooeuieeeiieie e eeeee et e et e et e e e e tae e e s aae e e aveaeeeanns 94
12.2.2 CHILD X tntteette ettt etee sttt e st e sute e sat e e bt e e sbte e e bt e e bt e s abe e s bt e e ab e e sabeesateesabe e baeebbe e ebbeesabeenbeeebeesabaesnbaenaneens 96
12.2.3 KIDS CLUB .ttt sttt ettt ettt ettt et sttt e st st e sat e e s at e e s bt e e bee s beeeabeesabeesabe e sabeesabeesabeennbeenbteenneennne 98
12.2.4 INO APOLOGY VIDEOD..titiieuuettttteeeeeiuettteeeesaaaateteeeeeae e aaauunbeteeeaeaaans bt eeeeeeaansbeeeeaeesaannseeebbeeeeessaannnraneeas 99

ISSUE 3. THE RELIABILITY AND ACCURACY OF THE DET INVESTIGATION REPORT INTO THE

PROVISION/DELIVERY OF THE CHAPLAINCY SERVICES PROGRAMME AT BEES CREEK PRIMARY
SCHOOL, BERRY SPRINGS PRIMARY SCHOOL, GIRRAWEEN PRIMARY SCHOOL, HUMPTY DOO

PRIMARY SCHOOL AND TAMINMIN HIGH SCHOOL.......ccccoovumrrriiriissssnnnensssssssssnnnnesssssssssannens 102
12.3.1 ASSOCIATION OF CHAPLAINS AND SOSNT ....tiiiuiiiititeniieeitte ettt eiee st e stee e steesiteesabeesaeeesbtessaeesbaesseesabaesnseensn 103
12.3.2 CONCERNS RAISED BY CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGIST OF CHILD X w.veeruveenueeesuieenieeenireeueesreesnseesureessseesseesnseesnsessseeenns 104
12.3.3 REFERENCE TO THE WRONG CHILD IN THE INVESTIGATION REPORT ....uuuetittieeeeeriuittteeeeeesanteeeeeeesesnnrennseeeeessesannnes 107
12.3.4 INTERVIEW WITH COMPLAINANT A’S DAUGHTER ..cceutteeteitetesiteeestteeessuteeesaseeeesnstnseeesssseesssuseessnsseeessssseesssees 107
12.3.5 CONTACT WITH IMS BELINDA KINSELLA ...ceeeteiitetieeeeeeeeitttteeeeeseietteeeeeeseesaabaeeeeeesesannneeeeeeaesaanseneeeaesesannnnnens 108
12.3.6 CHILD Z, SON OF WITNESS A < .eeettuuieieeeietttutiieeeeeeeeesssniaeseeesssenaseeesssessannnsesesssssssnnaseeessssssssnnesesssssnaneeeseesssses 108
ISSUE 4. SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE CHAPLAINS TO CHILDREN WITHIN BEES CREEK PRIMARY SCHOOL,
BERRY SPRINGS PRIMARY SCHOOL, GIRRAWEEN PRIMARY SCHOOL, HUMPTY DOO PRIMARY
SCHOOL AND TAMINMIN HIGH SCHOOL. .....cccctiiiiiisnnnnneeiinisissssneessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssns 110
12.4.1 QUALIFICATIONS OF CHAPLAINS . teiuutttteeaeeeautttteeeesesaunteteeeessaaanaunreteeeeesaaassbeeeeessaannsaeeeeaesannseneeaeeaeeeesaanses 110
12.4.2.03 MrStUGIE MCMIIIAN ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e etraeaeeeeeeeannnees 111
12.4.1.2 MS ROSIYN MICMIIIQN ............ovveeeiiaaiieieee ettt e e e e et e e e e e e e e etaaeaee e e e eennnnees 111
12.4.1.3 MIrJasON PUIUGGONGN............oeeeeeeeeeiieeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeaaeeeeeeeeetitareeeeeeeseeaaaeeeeeeeeesssssaeaeeesenannrees 111
12.4.2 SERVICES PROVIDED BY CHAPLAINS «..ceuvvteutertteettesteesteesiseessteesseeensssesssesesseessessnseesaseessesssssesssessses 112
12.4.2. 1 Taminmin High SCROO ..............cccoveieiiiieeeeee e ettt et e e aae e e eeaaae e e straaeans 112
12.4.2.2 HUmMPty DOO Primary SCROOL............ccccuuieeeueeeeeiee ettt e e e e saraaeens 114
12.4.2.3 Girraween Primary SCROOI ...............cc.uueeeeeeeeiiiieeeee e eeeeecieeee e eeeetcaee e e e et e e e e e eeeraeaee e e e eearnaees 115
12.4.2.4 Berry SPrings Primary SCROOL................oooeoeeeeceueeieee et e et e e e ennnees 115
12.4.2.5 Bees Creek Primary SCROOL..............ccuueeeeeeeeeeiieeieee e et ee e e e e e e et e e e e e e eeannnees 115
12.4.2.6 An outline of the ROOM 14 PrOGram ...........cccouueeeeeeeeeciiueeeeeeeeeeeiieeeeeeeeeeeeiraeeeeeeeeeeiraeeeeeeeeesnnnees 116
12.4.2.7 ON@=0N—0NE SESSIONS........uuvvveeeeeeeieerireeeeeeeseiitreeeeeeeseirsseeaeesasesrsreeesesesssssssseesesssssssseeesesssnssssrens 118
J12.4.2.8 GIOUP SESSIONS ..o eeeeeeeeteeeeeeitee e et e e e et e e e e etbe e e eetaaeeeeateeeeeatseeeeeasaeeeastsseassseesenssseeessseaans 126
Y T AU Y 1Y 1ol 1Y 111 - T o ST 126
MS ROSIYI IMICIMITIAN <.ttt ettt et e et e e aeeeabeeetaeesbeassseessseeaseesaeesseesssesnseessseensaas 127
MIFJSON PUFUBZANAN ...ciiiiiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt ettt e et e e e tbe e e s b e e s eatbeeeeabeeesbaeeeeannee s 128
SUMMI@IY .ttt et ettt e et et e e bt essteesteesateenseeeseeeseeaaseeseeenseessseenseessseenseeanseanseeensaensseanseeenseeseeanseenneeenseennseans 128
12.4.2.9 Classroom/miSCellan@OUS QCLIVITIES ..........c...cccveeeueeecueeeereeeeeeeeeeeieeeereeeeaeeeereeeeaeeeereeeereeereeeeaee e 129
12.4.2.10 Claims by Clinical PSYCROIOGIST.............coeeueeieeiiieeeeiee et eeetee et e eeve e e eeaae e e eaaeaeen 129
12.4.2.11 Claims relating t0 NAPCAN .............uueeeee oo eeeeecee e e e e eeeear e e e e e eeerae e e e e e e eeetraeaeeeeeeenannrees 131
ISSUE 5. THE ROLE OF THE CHAPLAIN WITHIN THE WELLBEING TEAM AND ACCESSIBILITY TO THIS TEAM
BY STUDENTS. ..eeuiiiiieiiiitnniiiensiiiieasiiiieasiettessiessessssssessssssessssssessssssssssssssnssssssnsssssssssssssnsssssnnes 133
ISSUE 6. FUNDING CONDITIONS & AGREEMENTS, AND COMPLIANCE WITH THESE. .......cccceveeeeneeeeenns 136
12.6.1 APPLICATION PROCESS FOR NSCP FUNDING ...ceuvtieuteerireesiteeniieesitessteeesieesbeesbeesbeesaseesaseessseenseeenseennne 136
12.6.1.1 Why was Living Waters Chaplaincy Service nominated for the NSCP?.............cccovueeeevvueeeecnnann. 137
12.6.1.2 Humpty DOO Primary SCROON..............c....oocvueeeiiiie e eeee e e e eaae e e eiaaaeen 139
12.6.1.3 Bees Creek Primary SCROO..............ccccueiocuieeeeeiee ettt e e eeaae e e eareaaea 140
12.6.1.4 Berry Springs Primary SCROOI..............ueueeeeeeeieeeeee e ettt e e e e e e eennaees 140
12.6.1.5 Girraween Primary SCROO .............ccuuveeeiieeeiiieeeee et ee e e e e e e e e e e ennnees 142
12.6.1.6 Taminmin High School
12.6.1.7 Summation of school funding application ProCesSes.............ccceeeceuuieeeciueeeiiieeeeeiieee e e 143
12.6.2 CONTENT OF THE NSCP FUNDING APPLICATION ..eeuuveeteteuresteeeteesseessseessseesssessseseesseessseesssesssseessseesanes 145
12.6.2.1 Claimed chaplQinCy CAPACILY..........ccocueieeeieiee et ee e et e et e e e e e e eeaae e e saraaaens 145
Discussion of chaplains’ capabilities with respect to funding agreements ............ccccceeeiiiieceiiieccciec e, 148
12.6.2.2 Northern Territory Ombudsman's jurisdictional reStraints............c.cccccceveeecveeeescieeescieeesereeenns 149
12.6.2.3 DEMOGIAPRNICS ...t eee et e ettt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e araeeeeeeeeeetaaeaeeeeeeennnnnees 151



12.6.3
12.6.4 PAYMENT OF FUNDS
13.0 CONCLUSION

12.6.2.4 Business registration of Living Waters Chaplaincy Service
POWER OF THE SCHOOL COUNCILS AND PRINCIPALS






1.0 Executive Summary

This investigation report is the result of an own motion investigation following multiple
complaints to my office about the Living Waters Chaplaincy Service, about the respective
chaplains, pastors and about the Department of Education and Training (DET). Five Northern
Territory Government rural schools: Humpty Doo Primary School, Bees Creek Primary
School, Berry Springs Primary School, Girraween Primary School and Taminmin High School,
engaged the services of the Living Waters Chaplaincy Service through a Commonwealth
funding arrangement. The funding arrangement was called the National Schools Chaplaincy
Programme (NSCP) and commenced within the respective schools during late 2007 and early
2008.

Prior to the commencement of the NSCP, Living Waters Chaplaincy Service provided pastors
to most of the schools under the scope of this investigation, with the exception of Bees
Creek Primary School. The pastors voluntarily provided various services to students ranging
from one-on-one sessions, group activities and support following critical incidents. The
services provided by the pastors in two of the schools were religious based and continued
with the commencement of the NSCP. One of the schools discontinued the religious
component in 2008. After the introduction of the NSCP the pastors came to be called
chaplains.

The chaplains continued to have close regular contact with the young students despite
emerging parental concerns, which peaked late in 2007 when it was revealed that school
chaplains were providing accommodation and caretaker work to a convicted paedophile on
the site of the Living Waters Chaplaincy Service at Humpty Doo. The site was called the
‘Meeting Place’ and was located next to St Francis of Assisi Primary School and in close
walking distance to Humpty Doo Primary School, Taminmin High School and other child
services. This decision by the chaplains resulted in parents closely scrutinising processes and
procedures relating to the chaplaincy service, with many complaints lodged to our office.
The parents of one student captured their concerns in a letter to their School Principal:

As you are aware we have strong concerns regarding the suitability of
the Living Waters Uniting Church providing a Chaplaincy Service for
our children at .......... Primary School.

These concerns stem from the fact that they are accommodating a re-
offended paedophile and his wife at the same residence as Arise After
School Care, next to Humpty Doo Child Care Centre, and close to
Humpty Doo Primary School, St Francis of Assisi Primary School,
Taminmin High School, the Humpty Doo Village Green Park, skate
park, Scout Hall, Humpty Doo Playgroup, Girl Guides and the school
bus exchange.

They have invited this man onto the property, exposing all our
children to him and did not feel that this was inappropriate?

We understand that the church is there to help everyone in need, but
to place a re-offending paedophile in the middle of schools and a



child care centre is like placing a drug addict in a pharmacy!!! We
really wonder how they think that this is appropriate help for
anyone... the paedophile or the children around him.

If concerned locals didn’t speak up, this community would still be
unaware of his presence because the church did not willingly warn
any of the child services in the area, nor did they feel that this address
was not appropriate for a repeat offender.... These are the same
people that we are supposed to trust our vulnerable children with, to
support and provide guidance about ethics, values and relationships.
We feel that they have a different perception as to what is right and
wrong and with who they are trying to protect.

Due to the lack of duty of care to all children in the rural sector, we
have lost all respect and confidence in this church and strongly advise
that we do not invite them to our school. If parents wish to use their
services then maybe they could contact the church direct. We would
prefer that this is not the church that our school respects and
supports the services from. Surely we could find another service that
has only our children’s best interests at heart.

Thank you for listening to our concerns, we only want what is best for
our children.

Kind Regards
Signed

October 18, 2007

Through initial enquiries made by this office it was established that the issues of concern
extended beyond those originally raised by the parents and so by the powers bestowed in
section 16(1) of the Ombudsman (Northern Territory) Act, an own motion investigation was
commenced.

All parents interviewed expressed concerns about the chaplaincy service and, in particular,
the chaplaincy service providers. Most of the parents interviewed had lodged requests with
their schools specifying that no contact be made between their children and the chaplains. A
number of parents eventually removed their children from the respective schools. These
parents were concerned that the chaplains provided support services to paedophile/s. The
parents perceived that, if children familiarised themselves with the chaplains as safe persons
then, by association, if a paedophile was seen by the child with a chaplain, the child may
consider the paedophile as a safe person.

Parents expressed concerns that, it would be a serious conflict of interest for chaplains to
provide services to children within close proximity of a paedophile if that person was also
receiving support services from the chaplains. The concern relating to the parents worried
by the chaplains’ conflict of interest was promptly addressed by DET with the result that the
convicted paedophile and his wife moved away from the area. However, parents remained
anxious about their children’s wellbeing and continued to alert other parents, which resulted



in further queries about the way the chaplains operated and the related processes and
procedures.

Parents were particularly worried about the chaplains’ access to children, record keeping,
type of services provided, religious propagation and other shortcomings of the service,
particularly that chaplains were allegedly providing a counselling service without holding
recognised counselling qualifications.

This Office conducted interviews with the three chaplains, a Consultant Investigator engaged
by DET, School Principals, Assistant Principals, DET staff, DET management and DET legal
services. The interviews revealed that most of the schools were under resourced to
adequately meet the emotional and social needs of the children. This finding was rejected by
DET. The Department’s response to my draft investigation report was:

this is an oversimplification. It is noted that such a view must be considered in the
light of a perception seemingly held by some parts of the community that schools
are ‘a one stop shop’ in relation to all needs and problems of all children. Schools of
course are highly concerned and committed to providing the best outcomes for
students and strive hard to achieve same. However, there appears to be a view
held by some significant percentage of the community that schools can provide a
solution to the needs of society in relation to each and every problem of children,
when clearly the core function is education. So the question of adequate resourcing
or otherwise needs to be considered in light of the seemingly ever increasing
expectation on schools to provide an increasing range of services for children at
times arguably beyond the delivery of education.

My question then becomes, why offer chaplaincy services when the service goes ‘beyond the
delivery of education’. The answer is; because an adequately trained and experienced
chaplain can potentially make a valuable contribution to the behavioural, emotional and
spiritual development of students. The response of DET ignores the obligation DET has when
it allows third parties into its schools, allows access by those third parties to information
about students, some of it sensitive, and holds out those third parties as having the same
status or standing as other staff at the school. The chaplains were third parties because they
were not employed by DET and at the time had no agreement with DET or the schools they
serviced. There is no practical definition of ‘chaplain’ in the DEEWR guidelines for the NSCP.
There are no nationally consistent criteria for a person to be called a chaplain. The chaplains
in this investigation were appointed by the General Secretary — Northern Synod Uniting
Church, who defined ‘chaplain’ as a ‘person who provides chaplaincy services in accord with
a chaplaincy services agreement’.

Services provided by the chaplains appeared to fill some of the gaps experienced within the
schools, providing a degree of emotional and social support through individual services,
group activities and group programs. Indeed, the chaplaincy service believed that its delivery
of services benefited the students and teachers. However, a detailed examination of the
processes and procedures within the schools revealed problems and identified
shortcomings.

This investigation revealed that chaplains took part in the wellbeing teams at the schools,
including Taminmin High School. The team at Taminmin High School differed from the other
schools since that team included a counsellor, in addition to other professionals, who
predominantly serviced the high school and, to a certain extent, was accessed by the
primary schools.



Access to the wellbeing teams was based on an assessment of the child’s needs. Parents
were concerned that the chaplains’ team membership automatically guaranteed the
chaplain’s access to a child’s sensitive information discussed by the wellbeing team, without
the child’s parental consent.

The response provided by DET in relation to the draft investigation report stated:

The participation of the chaplains in the school wellbeing teams was a natural and
generally uncontentious matter. However any participation in wellbeing meetings
in relation to other than opt in students was arguably ill conceived. The
department has introduced policy to ensure there is no repetition of this situation.

School Principals appeared to understand that the chaplains were not employed by DET but
nonetheless, there were general perceptions that chaplains were a ‘member of staff’. The
perception appeared to cause a blurred line between the rights and privileges of the
chaplains compared with those of staff.

This investigation reviewed the processes and procedures associated with the chaplaincy
service prior and post the commencement of the NSCP. In many areas, policies and
procedures associated with the chaplaincy service were found to be inadequate or non-
existent. Particularly concerning was the risk of deception and scheming evidenced by the
proposed unlawful action to boycott teaching services to children of the complainants.

Berry Springs Primary School was one of the few schools to have developed a risk
management document, which identified contingent situations and how they should be
dealt with. The comprehensive risk management process for regulating chaplaincy
procedures at the Berry Springs Primary School could be considered useful as a guide for
other schools.

On close examination of the provision of chaplaincy services, one-on-one pastoral care
services caused the most serious concern. Students experiencing domestic violence, abuse,
behavioural problems and those recorded as exhibiting physical symptoms were referred to
the chaplains for one-on-one pastoral care. A review of chaplain notes revealed that the
services did not simply include a listening ear but the development of a level of intervention
with strategies for coping and change. In one instance a psychologist who later treated a
student was of the opinion that the chaplain provided psychological services without the
required qualifications. The most salient point is that nobody knew what services were
provided during one-on-one sessions nor the appropriateness or quality of those services.

One-on-one sessions created circumstances bound by a level of confidentiality which kept
School Principals at a distance. None of the Principals interviewed by this investigation
sought to review the chaplains’ notes to confirm that they remained within the confines of
pastoral care. Teachers were required to attend chaplaincy group sessions as their duty of
care could not be delegated yet teachers were not required to attend one-on-one sessions
where a child might be exposed to increased risk.

'The response by DET to the draft investigation report stated ‘that students attended one-on-one sessions only
with parental permission, with almost no exception. In such cases while the sessions occurred on school premises,
the teacher’s duty of care would be qualified by the parents express permission for their child (sic) receive
chaplaincy services in a one-on-one basis.” | do not agree with DET’s view of the effect of parental consent.
Consent must be fully informed to negate the duty of care. The forms used to give written consent do not
outline the risks or describe the isolated environment of the session. In some cases only verbal consent was
given with no record of what the parent was informed.



The NSCP funding applications, delegatory powers of the Principals and School Council
Chairpersons were examined in addition to funding conditions and agreements. Under
DEEWR’s Funding Agreement obligations and responsibilities are placed on three parties yet
only two of those parties are signatories to the Agreement. Of further concern is that the
conduct of Principals and School Council Chairpersons may be considered to be giving effect
to a contract (Funding Agreement) for which they do not possess delegated authority.

School Principals were/are required by DEEWR to provide progress reports and to certify
that funds under the NSCP are used for the purposes of the NSCP. As neither the schools nor
DET receive or control the funds this is not only unreasonable but a risky method of
acquitting the grant of funds.

CAROLYN RICHARDS
Ombudsman

November 2010



2.0 Recommendations

1. One-on-one services provided by the chaplains should be reviewed and measures
implemented to ensure the safety and wellbeing of the students. Strong consideration
should be given by DET to cease one-on-one services to students given it is difficult to
gauge what is taking place within these sessions (DET Executive to refer to Appendix
1).

DET response:
The provision of one-on-one services by the chaplains will be reviewed. This will be
considered in light of relevant factors including risk to students, duty of care considerations,
resourcing constraints and confidentiality.

2. The role of the Chaplains on the wellbeing team should be reviewed as the chaplains
should not be privy to confidential information about students where
parental/guardian consent has not been obtained. It is strongly recommended that the
chaplains do not participate in the whole of the wellbeing team meetings, they should
be called in for segments on the material that extend to the chaplains and ensure all
children discussed have provided parental/guardian consent.

DET response:
To be implemented as per recommendation.

3. Consent forms for participation in NSCP should be reviewed and standardised forms be
adopted by the schools. The forms should be clear and provide sufficient information
outlining what a parent or guardian is consenting to including any risks. If consent is to
be obtained for religious activities the form should ensure compliance with the NSCP
requirements and consistency with family beliefs.

DET response:
It is submitted this seems irrelevant to the provision of chaplaincy services which are not
religious so query the jurisdictional basis for such a recommendation. The department can
review its policies in relation to provision of religious instruction nevertheless if required.

This response is interesting given the findings within the investigation revealed that two
schools were conducting religious activities, which were provided by one of the NSCP
chaplains under the banner of ‘Kids Club’. It should also be noted that one of the schools
ceased the religious component of the ‘Kids Club’ after the commencement of the NSCP
whilst the other school continued.

4. To ensure student education is the first and foremost priority, chaplains’ access to the
classrooms should be restricted. Students with parental/guardian permission to attend
chaplaincy sessions should be removed from their class to attend the respective
sessions which should be conducted in an environment where an adult is able to
observe but not hear what occurs. [Note; | have changed this recommendation which in
the draft report recommended that a teacher be present at the sessions.]
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DET response to the draft:
There are two potential problems with such an approach. Firstly the provision of chaplaincy
services is intended to augment the provision of services in a school. If a teacher has to be
present in every session it is likely to place an unworkable staffing and resource burden on
schools. Secondly part of the rationale of provision of such services is to allow for a
confidential circumstance where a student may feel comfortable to discuss sensitive issues
with a chaplain, while they may not feel confident to openly discuss matters in the presence
of a teacher. As discussed .....a solution involving minimum levels of supervision can be

explored.

| accept the comments of DET and have changed the original recommendation in reliance on the
willingness to find a solution to allow supervision consistent with privacy.

5. DET should consider the employment of an additional full time school counsellor
devoted to the rural schools.

DET response:

To be considered as per recommendation.

6. Policies and procedures should be reviewed and a more comprehensive level of detail
should be included and extended to:

a.

Reviewing the Berry Springs Risk Management documents for the
chaplaincy service and considering adopting this approach and level of
detail within the DET Chaplaincy Service Guidelines (refer 12.1.5 of
this report);

DET response:
To be reviewed as per recommendation.

Describing appropriate venues for sessions to be held by chaplains
(refer 12.1.5 of this report);

DET response:
To be described as per recommendation.

The school’s record-keeping requirements for chaplaincy services
should be prescriptive to avoid any further possibility of non-
compliance (refer 12.1.4);

DET response:
The record keeping requirement of schools in relation to chaplaincy services
are to be reviewed with a view to the need for a prescribed set of
requirements.

Conflict of interest should be addressed ie. what constitutes a conflict
of interest, procedures for handling conflicts of interest and
consequences/outcomes (refer 12.1.3);

DET response:
The department will review as required notwithstanding it is submitted that
the issue is irrelevant to the complaint that there is no conflict of interest in
the terms as set out in the report.

11



| accept that DET will review conflict of interest guidelines. There is a
conflict between the school wanting to retain chaplains to provide
services paid for by the Commonwealth and supplementing the schools
resources and the duty of the school to monitor performance, select
and if necessary dismiss a chaplain. The tension between these two
interests is clear. The defensive response by the schools to complaints
and the alienation of parents is a clear example of how partiality and the
desire to keep the chaplains caused conflict which was not well
managed by the schools.

Responsibility of the teachers and chaplains with respect to the safety
and wellbeing of the students;

DET response:
The relevant policy and procedure will be reviewed.

Annual police clearance checks should be extended to chaplains,
volunteers, etc (refer 12.1.1);

DET response:

The operation of the clearance notice provisions of the Care and Protection
of Children Act (i.e. the ochre card requirement) appears relevant.
Commencement of such provisions is anticipated relatively soon. Under that
specific child protection legislation, chaplains providing services in schools
will be required to obtain such clearance notice bi-annually..... There has
been no relevant issue in relation to a failure concerning police checks for
the provision of chaplaincy services in the Northern Territory. Nevertheless
the issue will be reviewed.

Specific complaint handling and dispute resolution should be
addressed with respect to chaplaincy services, the role and
responsibilities of the chaplains, Principals, teachers, etc;

DET response:
To be reviewed although it is submitted a separate mechanism is not
required.

(1) I recommend that the first response to a complaint about chaplains
be directed at the outset to the DET Executive as the schools have a
conflict of interest.

Procedures for accessing or removing students from class should be
developed (refer 12.1.5);

DET response:
To be reviewed.

Processes and procedures for checking qualifications of chaplains,
volunteers, etc prior to the delivery of each program;

DET response:
To be reviewed although this appears to be catered for in the current
departmental policy.
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jo Access to student information by chaplains, volunteers, etc, should be
descriptive and consistent with the Information Act (refer 12.1.4.2);

DET response:
To be reviewed.

k. Guidelines restricting staff and chaplains from unduly influencing
parents not to lodge or persist with their complaints or concerns about
the chaplaincy service. Parents rights to pursue concerns/complaints
through specified channels should be emphasised (refer 12.1.7);

DET response:
To be reviewed although it hardly appears that parental complaints were
limited by the intervention of the chaplains and/or staff.

This response by DET is concerning as it fails to acknowledge that
parents have a right to complain and to have their complaint dealt with
independently, impartially and respectfully. It ignores the threatened
retaliation of boycotting students whose parents complained and phone
calls made by Ms Roslyn McMillan to the parents in an attempt to
change their minds.

7. General guidelines should be developed and implemented within the schools on
community consultation, surveys and achieving optimum results in addition to the
handling of petitions (refer 12.1.9);

DET response:

Such guidelines could be developed but it is submitted that this would not be a particularly
useful exercise. The types of school communities which exist throughout the DET system are
extremely diverse such that a guideline for conducting surveys which might be applicable and
useful for the community of an urban senior college could be almost totally ineffective for
conducting a survey in a remote indigenous school community. .... The central issue seems to
be a criticism that schools did not properly survey the relevant school communities prior to
making application for chaplaincy funding to properly effect community consultation and to
properly reflect community opinion. In hindsight the problem (if any) does not seem to lie
with survey methodology but rather in proceeding on the basis that relevant school councils
as representative bodies of school communities can decide issues on behalf of the school
communities, in considering that the council view is the community view and in concluding
that community consultation was effective by council discussion and decision on the matter.
It is clear that councils did discuss the prospect of making such applications for chaplaincy
services and accordingly by that process the community was consulted. It is also noted that
in some cases, that surveys of parents were also conducted in the process of ascertaining
community support. Accordingly the department submits there is no proper reason to create
a policy/guideline on conducting surveys and that the utility of such guidelines is
guestionable.

| am quite disappointed in this response as policies and guidelines should be sufficiently
robust to accommodate differences across the schools. The purpose of the guidelines
would be to remove uncertainty throughout the schools and enable the Principals to feel
confident in their processes and remove any associated stressors. Considering the
petitions received by the schools were handled differently and expectations of the
Executive were not clear to the Principals DET’s rejection of having policy/guidelines
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10.

11.

12.

appears to be insufficiently proactive, and ignores the evidence of parents being
dissatisfied with the survey process as well as with the school councils’ acceptance of
them.

Several of the schools have also engaged the participation of the chaplains within
various activities such as sports days, orientation, big breakfast, etc. DET should be
reviewing the chaplains participation and determine whether it is necessary for them
to be present or whether parent volunteers would be able to provide the same
assistance.

DET response:
It is submitted such participation can be reviewed but the department does not accept that
involvement by chaplains in such events is inappropriate and to the contrary can be a
positive benefit in the development of a sense of community.

DET to request DEEWR to review validity of Funding Agreements for each of the
schools within the scope of this investigation due to the issue of delegatory authority
of the Principals and School Council Chairpersons.

DET response:
To be reviewed as per the recommendation.

DET to report identified breaches by chaplains to DEEWR for their consideration.

DET response:
The department will report breaches by chaplains it identifies to DEEWR for consideration.

DET to review the conduct of staff and Principals identified within this report where
responsibilities have not been met and/or directives/policies have not been complied.

DET response:
To be reviewed as per the recommendation. The department submits that to a significant
extent this recommendation has already been enacted by the department’s usual processes.

Services provided by chaplains to DET staff should be reviewed as Employee Assistance
Scheme (EAS) services are available and provide an impartial service.

DET response
It is not apparent that there was any complaint made by or about DET staff receiving
inappropriate chaplaincy services. While EAS provide a professional, impartial and well
regarded service, it seems open to adults to speak to a chaplain about. Further, the
department is not convinced that there are services provided by chaplains to DET staff which
is capable of review.

No complaint was made but staff using chaplaincy services for personal matters may give
rise to a conflict of interest. DET should be considering the question — what happens
when a teacher, who is confiding all their personal affairs to a chaplain, receives a
complaint by a parent about that chaplain, or if a child confides in the chaplain
inappropriate behaviour or a personal conflict with a teacher who is or has consulted
personally with that chaplain. A conflict of interest is real or perceived.
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13. A copy of this report to be provided to the Commonwealth Ombudsman for his
consideration under the Memorandum of Understanding with my office, to consider
the practices of DEEWR with respect to:

13.1 The administration by DEEWR of the whole of the National Schools
Chaplaincy Program including:

13.1.1

13.1.2

13.1.3

13.1.4

13.1.5

The manner in which DEEWR monitors compliance with the
guidelines of the NSCP.

Whether or not DEEWR has adequate procedures to ensure
acquittal of the funds granted under the NSCP.

Whether or not DEEWR verifies information provided to it by
schools who apply for funding.

Whether or not the practice of requiring an application for funding
to be made by a school, requiring a school to report progress and
certify that funds, not received by the schools, have been used only
for the NSCP when the school or an education department are not
party to the agreement with DEEWR is good public administration.
Whether or not the investigation by DEEWR into complaints about
the chaplains in late 2007 early 2008 was adequate and whether
DEEWR has an adequate system for managing complaints about
the NSCP.

| consider eight months from the date of this report to be adequate time within which
to implement all recommendations.
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3.0 Background

At the beginning of this investigation my office had received several complaints relating to
the administration and operation of the National Schools Chaplaincy Programme (NSCP) and
chaplaincy services provided prior to the commencement of that programme. The
complainants made several attempts to resolve their concerns directly with staff of DET and
DEEWR. Responses received by the complainants were considered inadequate because not
all of their concerns had been addressed or the responses were not satisfactory.

The parental complaints prompted DET and DEEWR to initiate their own investigations into
the administration and operation of the NSCP at the five Northern Territory schools. The
programme was suspended during the DET investigation. On completion of the DET
investigation by Mr Roger Newman, a Consultant Investigator, a report was provided to DET.
Based on his report DET made a determination that the administration and operation of the
NSCP was not in breach of any legislative or regulatory requirements. As a result of DET’s
decision, the programme recommenced. Information received by my office at the time
caused me to question the reliability of the report. A Clinical Psychologist complained to this
office that his opinion and views were not correctly reported by Mr Roger Newman. The
Clinical Psychologist in fact stated that the report misrepresented him as he told Mr
Newman that a chaplain had provided services to a child that ought to have only been
provided by a psychologist. The report of Mr Newman did not state this.

On receiving complaints from dissatisfied parents, enquiries were made of DET. The first
response by DET contained inconsistencies as well as issues that required further
clarification. There was conflicting information from DET and the concerned parents about
how the chaplaincy service operated and was monitored.

Some of the allegations that prompted this own motion investigation were:

e Counselling was provided by the chaplains without appropriate qualifications

e There was inconsistent administration of the ‘opt in’ and ‘opt out’ concept for
chaplaincy services across the NT public rural schools

e A student was refused access to the Wellbeing Team because the concerned parent
did not want the chaplain to be present during discussions about their child

e A parent suffering cancer made a request for no chaplaincy contact with her children,
which was ignored

e There were flaws in the methodology and execution of the DET investigation
including:

— Undertaking interviews in relation to the wrong child

— A parent who had allegedly raised complaints with DET was not interviewed
during the investigation

— Conclusions drawn were unfounded
— The opinion of a psychologist had been misreported

e There was impropriety with respect to the funding applications and agreement.
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EXPLANATION OF TERMS AND SCOPE

Chaplain A person who provides chaplaincy services in accord with a chaplaincy
services agreement®.

Pastor A lay person who is commissioned by a Presbytery to provide ministry within
a congregation, community or Church based organisation for the purpose of
undertaking specified tasks>.

DET Department of Education and Training, Northern Territory formerly known as
Department Education, Employment and Training (DEET), and its employees
including teachers and Principals.

DEEWR Commonwealth Department of Education, Employment and Workplace
Relations formerly known as the Department of Education, Science and
Technology (DEST).

NSCP National Schools Chaplaincy Programme

Taminmin Now known as Taminmin College

High School

EAS Employee Assistance Scheme

NAPCAN National Association for Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect

ANCOR Australian National Child Offender Register

RECENT DEVELOPMENT

Since the commencement of this investigation DET has developed and implemented a policy
and procedures relating to the school chaplaincy service. These have been considered within
the report and comments have been provided.

? Definition provided by Mr Peter Jones, General Secretary - Northern Synod Uniting Church in Australia. Mr
Peter Jones was asked to elaborate but did not.

? Definition provided by Mr Peter Jones, General Secretary - Northern Synod Uniting Church in Australia. Mr
Peter Jones was asked to elaborate but he did not.
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4.0 Issues for Investigation

1. The processes and procedures associated with the NSCP and compliance with the
schemes guidelines and code by DET.

2. Informed consent and monitoring of consent in relation to services provided under
NSCP and pre-NSCP chaplaincy services to students.

3. The reliability and accuracy of the DET investigation report into the
provision/delivery of the chaplaincy services programme at Bees Creek Primary
School, Berry Springs Primary School, Girraween Primary School, Humpty Doo
Primary School and Taminmin High School.

4. Services provided by the chaplain/s to children within Bees Creek Primary School,
Berry Springs Primary School, Girraween Primary School, Humpty Doo Primary School
and Taminmin High School.

5. The role of the chaplain within the Wellbeing Team and accessibility to this team by
students.

6. Funding conditions and agreements, and compliance with these.

5.0 Agency and Jurisdiction

The respective schools in which the chaplaincy service is operated, Berry Springs Primary
School, Humpty Doo Primary School, Girraween Primary School, Bees Creek Primary School
and Taminmin High School are administered by DET. DET is an agency within the jurisdiction
of this office. Services provided by the chaplains to the schools and those provided by the
Consultant Investigator also fall within the jurisdiction of this office in accordance with
sections 3(3)(d), 14(8) and 14(9) of the Ombudsman (Northern Territory) Act. This
investigation was undertaken pursuant to sections 14 and 16 of the Ombudsman (Northern
Territory) Act as at 2008. Section 165(2) Ombudsman Act 2009 requires any investigation
started prior to 1 July 2009 to be completed under the previous legislation Ombudsman
(Northern Territory) Act as if it had not been repealed.

6.0 Preliminary Enquiries and Investigation

My office made enquiries with the Chief Executive, DET about the issues of complaint. | was
unable to conclude that DET’s position on some issues was reasonable. The Ombudsman’s
power to make recommendations derives from the investigations power. | therefore
determined to formally investigate the matter and in September 2008 | notified DET, the
Minister* and the local members of the Legislative Assembly of my decision, as required
under section 19(1) of the Ombudsman (Northern Territory) Act. Mr Gerry Wood MLA
(Nelson) and Ms Kezia Purick MLA (Goyder) were the local members of the Legislative
Assembly advised of the investigation.

* Honourable Marion Scrymgour MLA, Minister for Education and Training.
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7.0 Draft Report

This report was sent in draft to DET (including Principals and other staff), the three
chaplains, DET Consultant Investigator, DEEWR and the four complainants for comment on
13 May 2010.°

There is some information about children and sensitive matters as well as identities of
people that were made known only to the Chief Executive of DET.

Each of the recipients was provided with instructions that the draft was confidential and
disclosure was prohibited. Comments received by recipients relating to adverse findings
about them in the draft investigation report were either noted or included within this final
report.

The response received 21 June 2010 from Mr Peter Jones, General Secretary, Northern
Synod, The Uniting Church in Australia was on behalf of the three chaplains identified within
this report. That response made no reference to the specific adverse comments | have
made and was very general.

A further opportunity was provided for the chaplains to be more specific and to make
comments or state a defence to the contents of the report. This was not done by the Synod
or the chaplains. | note that the chaplains have rejected the report and its
recommendations due to their belief that:

e they have been unduly scrutinised

e the report contains many untruths and personal opinions and is a deliberate attempt
to discredit the credibility and character of the Chaplains.

8.0 Sources of Information

. Ombudsman (Northern Territory) Act 2008

o Ombudsman Act 2009

. Northern Territory of Australia Education Act

. Northern Territory (Self-Government) Act

. Care and Protection of Children Act 2007

. Northern Territory of Australia Uniting Church in Australia Act
. Bureau of Statistics

. Correspondence from the Chief Executive DET

. Other documents and websites as referenced in the footnotes of this report

> Although DET’s objection to the complainants being provided with a draft of the report was noted, in my
discretion | was of the opinion that natural justice would not fully be served if the complainants were not given
an opportunity to comment on information they had provided to my office prior to release of the final
investigation report.
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Interviews were conducted with:

Person interviewed

Status/Position

Date of interview

Mr Stuart McMillan | Pastor/Chaplain 23 July 2009,
12,14 & 21 August
2009

Ms Roslyn Pastor/Chaplain 23 July 2009

McMiillan

Mr Jason Chaplain 23 July 2009

Purugganan

Complainant A

Parent and daughter

4 March 2009

Complainant B Parent 2 March 2009
Complainant C Parent 2 March 2009
Complainant D Parent 2 March 2009
Witness A Parent 21 May 2009 by
phone
Witness B Parent 8 April 2009
Witness C Parent 1 April 2009
Witness D Parent 31 March 2009
Witness E Parent 30 March 2009
Witness F Parent 27 March 2009
Clinical Psychologist | Child Clinical Psychologist 4 March 2009
Mr Roger Newman | DET engaged Consultant Investigator 27 May 2009
Mr Alan Green Executive 22 October 2009
Mr Kevin Gillan Executive 15 October 2009
Ms Maree Garrigan | Executive 21 October 2009
Ms SB Executive 21 October 2009

Mr RP

Executive for the period questioned about

30 October 2009

Mr Gerry Greene A/Director Legal Services at the time of interview 4 June 2009

Mr AC Principal, Taminmin High School 18 August 2009

Ms FH Principal, Humpty Doo Primary School 17 August 2009

Ms MB Principal, Girraween Primary School 17 August 2009

Mr JT Principal, Bees Creek Primary School 17 August 2009

Ms SD Principal, Berry Springs Primary School 20 August 2009

Ms DW Assistant Principal, Berry Springs Primary School 12 October 2009

Mr GM Assistant Principal, Humpty Doo Primary School 20 August 2009

Ms HC Assistant Principal, Girraween Primary School 5 October 2009

Ms JW Teacher, Humpty Doo Primary School 13 October 2009

Mr KB Assistant Principal, Bees Creek Primary School 8 October 2009

Ms MC Special Education Teacher, Girraween Primary 15 October 2009
School

Ms MM Assistant Principal (Middle), Taminmin High School | 21 September 2009

Ms RM Assistant Principal (Senior), Taminmin High School | 21 September 2009
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9.0 The Complainants

Several complaints were received from parents whose children attended rural schools
operating the chaplaincy service. Through the initial enquiries made by this office it was
established that the issues extended beyond those originally raised by the parents and so by
the powers bestowed in section 16(1) of the Ombudsman (Northern Territory) Act, an own
motion investigation was commenced.

9.1 Complainant A — Humpty Doo Primary School and Taminmin High School

Complainant A said that on February 19 2008 a chaplain at her daughter’s primary school
was alone in a demountable with an approximately seven year old boy. The complainant
perceived a risk and so removed her daughters from the school that day as she had no
confidence in the school ensuring her children’s safety. The complainant told the Principal
her children would remain students of the school, however they would remain at home until
such time as a written guarantee was provided by the responsible government agency that
the chaplain could in no way approach or interact with her children whilst they were at
school. The complainant requested a meeting with the Principal to discuss how this could
work. At the time of lodging the complaint the complainant had not received such an
assurance, and no date had been given for a meeting.

Since the lodgement of this initial complaint various other issues were identified by the
complainant in addition to our office receiving additional complaints from other parents.

Further issues raised by Complainant A included allegations that the Chaplains were
counselling children within the public schools without being qualified, without parental
knowledge and despite parental concerns.

As a result of this initial complaint my office wrote to Ms Margaret Banks, Chief Executive
DET on 12 March 2008 and received a response on 26 March 2008. The response advised
that due to the complexity of the issues raised the response to the complainant would take
some time to complete. On 15 May 2008 the complainant said that steps had been taken by
DET and her children had been returned to school. This was a result of the chaplains being
suspended as two independent investigations had been initiated by DET and DEEWR. The
complainant said that she would wait until the final outcome of these two investigations
before pursuing her complaint with my office.

At the conclusion of the two investigations Mr Kevin Gillan in his capacity as Executive
Director, Schools North issued a General Findings and Recommendations summary dated
April 18, 2008. The summary concluded that the schools have managed their programs
within the DEEWR guidelines and the recommendations included:

e That Principals continue to manage the NSCP program and the Chaplains within the
DEEWR guidelines

e That Principals ensure that their school communities continue to receive up to date
information on the chaplaincy activities occurring in their schools

e That schools operate the NSCP as an ‘opt in’ program. Parents are to receive written
information in relation to the activities of the NSCP in the school and will be required
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to provide a signed and dated letter of approval for each of their children to
participate in the program and organised activities on an annual basis

e (lass and whole school registers of ‘opt in’ students are to be regularly maintained
and adjusted according to new student enrolments and changes in parent approval.
Processes must be in place to ensure that Chaplains have up to date access to the
registers

e As part of their reqular quality assurance process General Managers and Regional
Directors will monitor that the above recommendations are embedded in their
schools.

The complainant was not satisfied with the investigation outcomes because the respective
departments were investigating themselves. The complainant also said that Mr Roger
Newman, Consultant Investigator on behalf of DET interviewed the wrong boy during his
investigation into the demountable incident. In addition to this the complainant felt quite
irate that she had not received a copy or part thereof of the investigation report from DET.
The complainant said that when her daughter was interviewed it was recorded without
parental permission.

Ms Margaret Banks wrote to the complainant in her role as CE for DET. The letter confirmed
and endorsed that there were no breaches by the chaplains of any standards of conduct. Ms
Banks stated that Mr Roger Newman:

was engaged to examine a number of issues in relation to the provision of
counselling services generally, including particular issues you (Complainant A)
raised in your correspondence to the Ombudsman.

The correspondence further stated:

In relation to your assertion that the Principal of Humpty Doo Primary School, Ms
FH, advised you that chaplains do, with parental permission, conduct counselling
but that it is always supervised by another adult, | observe that there may be some
confusion over the use of the term ‘ counselling’ . However a school council
meeting on 6 March 2007 held that the school’s chaplaincy service was to provide a
service that is ‘entirely spiritual, supportive and non-denominational’.

School chaplaincy services are an optional service provided by school communities
to support existing well-being and pastoral care programs. They are not intended
to replace counselling services nor are chaplains permitted to provide professional
services for which they are not qualified. However, the nature of the services they
provide may in some cases require one-to-one sessions and it is my understanding
that parental permission is always provided prior to this occurring..........
Commencing immediately, all government schools that offer chaplaincy services
will be required to obtain written parental permission, on an annual basis, that
confirms a student is permitted to participate in the school’s chaplaincy program.
Chaplains will not be permitted to provide services to any student who has not
obtained this permission.

Complainant A was not satisfied with the response provided by Ms Margaret Banks as it
meant the chaplains were still permitted on the school grounds and would have access to
the school children. The complainant raised further concerns about Taminmin High School
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and the fact that they were using an ‘opt out’ system. The ‘opt out’ system meant that
students were assumed to have permission to receive chaplaincy services unless their
parents opted out by withdrawing their permission. What this in fact meant was that there
was no permission obtained for students receiving chaplaincy services. The complainant said
that Mr AC, Principal of Taminmin High School indicated that if the chaplains could not
access the children under the chaplaincy banner then he would allow them access under the
‘volunteer’ banner.

The complainant then sought to obtain:

e a3 definition of ‘optin’ from my office

e an explanation about why a written undertaking that the chaplains would not access
the complainant’s children at school was not given, and

® reassurance that children are not accessed by the chaplains and are excluded from
contact by religious bodies.

My office contacted the Legal Services Branch of DET to obtain a definition along with a
response to the other information sought. The Legal Services Branch confirmed on 15
August 2008 that a written undertaking had been mailed to the complainant’s post box on 1
August 2008. However emails from the complainant requesting such an undertaking from
DET dated back to 9 May 2008. Further to this a definition for ‘opt in’ was provided as
follows:

‘Opt-in’ only services refers to the method of permission required for students in
NTG schools to access chaplaincy services. This means that if students are to be
involved in chaplaincy services this can only occur with parental permission to
confirm the provision of chaplaincy services is allowable. Nevertheless this does not
mean the same as a no contact policy, nor is it reasonable to construe that term in
such a way. At Taminmin High School, for example, while there must be opt in
permission for students to access/participate in chaplaincy services, this does not
mean that students may not come into contact with a Chaplain in a number of
different ways. For example, the chaplain is part of the school wellbeing team and
thus a student could come into contact with the Chaplain as part of the team
assisting with a critical incident. Also the Chaplain is permitted to attend at school
assemblies and at school events... While such contact may occur it is not contact
which requires the provision of ‘ opt in’ permission.

Any contact between non ‘opt-in’ students and the chaplain in Taminmin High
School will not be in the nature of contact for provision of chaplaincy services and
will certainly not be contact of a religious/church nature. (The complainant)
observed re: Taminmin High School; | now find Principal AC only certain aspects of
the program are opt in, thus allowing his chaplains access to the general school
population under the remaining aspects of the program... This is clearly not the
case and fails to understand the distinction that when the chaplain offers
Chaplaincy services there is to be opt in permission but opt in permission is not
required where the Chaplain performs a role in the school which is not in the nature
of providing chaplaincy services. It is appreciated that the approach which is
occurring at Taminmin High School is different to that at Humpty Doo Primary
School and that at Humpty Doo the chaplain’s role has been agreed to be more
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limited. Nevertheless it is also submitted that the approach at Taminmin is not
contrary to the ‘opt in’ policy.

During the assessment of this complaint there appeared to be a few issues requiring further
inquiry and as several other complaints were forwarded to my office by concerned parents |
merged the matters into an own motion investigation.

9.2 Complainant B - Humpty Doo Primary School

On 21 May 2008 Complainant B contacted my office about the investigation initiated by DET
into the chaplaincy service. The complainant’s concerns stemmed from the belief that the
chaplaincy service had not complied with all guidelines and there was a lack of
independence in DET’s investigation. The complainant stated that in October 2007:

when this program was first questioned at a school council meeting and the
Principal of the school at Humpty Doo Primary School told me in the council
meeting that at that meeting was the first time she had ever laid eyes on the
guidelines for this program, and the program had been in the school since March
07...How could the guidelines have been followed by DEET staff from March 07
when they had not sighted/read them until they were shown these guidelines in
OCT 07.

The complainant was also concerned that misleading information had been incorporated
into the National Schools Chaplaincy Program application for funding to the Commonwealth
Government and signed by the respective School Principal.

A summary of the primary issues alleged by Complainant B included:
e Humpty Doo Primary School did not run the National Schools Chaplaincy Program in
accordance with the respective guidelines as at October 2007

* The investigation report facilitated by DET did not reflect accurate information

e The application seeking National Schools Chaplaincy Program funding was fraudulent.

The complainant believed the program should be cancelled at Humpty Doo Primary School.

My office made some preliminary enquiries and obtained from DET a copy of the
investigation report prepared by Mr Roger Newman and a copy of the National Schools
Chaplaincy Program Guidelines. Review of the documents raised several questions which
were sent to Ms Margaret Banks.

On 18 July 2008 Mr John Hassed, Acting Chief Executive, DET provided the following
information:

e The funding agreement commenced at Humpty Doo Primary School on 24 January 2008

® Ms FH became aware of the NSCP guidelines prior to writing the funding application in
March 2007

e Consultation with the school community about the NSCP extended to two separate
meetings involving two separate elected school councils, ie. 6 February 2007 and 6
March 2007
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Pastor Stuart McMillan was also present at the March meeting to answer any questions
DEEWR were satisfied with the extent of consultation

Services provided by chaplains prior to the commencement of the NSCP related to
critical incidents and the chaplains had assisted the school community with three
student deaths in the last two years

Pastor Stuart McMillan was a part of the Taminmin High School Wellbeing Team®

Since 2005 Taminmin, NT DEET, the Local Chaplaincy Committee and Living Waters
Church have had a memorandum of understanding which covered the responsibilities of
the chaplain working in the school

Members of the wellbeing team will only speak with students after parental permission
(typically verbal) is obtained

These discussions are often confidential
About the survey conducted by the school the response stated:

The 305 families at the school were all sent a survey on 8 February 2008... Of the 305
families, 66 responded... Of the 66 respondents, 50 were in favour of the NSCP... The
survey was conducted after the commencement of the program for the following
reasons:

a. The school council supported the commencement of the NSCP and
it was not considered necessary to conduct a survey of the families

b. The strenuous insistence by the complainant and a small group of
very vocal parents who argued that the school should conduct a
survey...

c. Inlate 2007, the paedophile issue was controversial in the Humpty
Doo community with the Living Waters Church criticised. The
school council thought it appropriate to review the chaplaincy
program due to this adverse comment and decided to conduct the
survey early 2008...

On the subject of consent to participate in the chaplaincy service, the response
explained:

Prior to 2008 the same system applied but the authority to allow a student to speak
to the Chaplain in relation to any issue was verbal from one or both parents. Neither
of these systems that we used could be considered as compulsory...

Only one student was seen by the chaplain for a one-on-one pastoral care session after
the implementation of the NSCP and in that case a written permission was provided... The
chaplain’s notes were never put onto a school file or the student record folder so it is
unknown whether Pastor McMillan compiled ‘a list of children seen.’

On how the chaplains knew which students had ‘opted out’ the response was:

Essentially that information was provided to Pastor McMillan because of the
‘absolutely no contact’ request of the parents. For instance, if Pastor McMillan walked
past a group of students he could not arguably say hello to the group if the group
contained an opt out’ student. He needed to know who the ‘opt out’ students were
in order for there to be compliance with the parental request... Children in ‘opt in’

®The response advised that Taminmin High School wellbeing team consists of a Counsellor, School Home
Liaison Officer, School Nurse, Aboriginal and Islander Education Worker and the Chaplain.
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programs (i.e. with parental permission) at the school were always removed from
classes and the small group working with the chaplain was always supported by a
classroom teacher. For the ‘Seasons’ sessions held in 2007 the chaplain was supported
by the school’s wellbeing teacher. For any one-on-one pastoral care sessions, these
are always held away from the classroom due to the typically sensitive nature of the
discussion and to protect the confidentiality of the child and their family. ...Recording
information on SAMS was not discussed at the school until May 2008 when it was
decided that students ‘opting in’ would be identified in the SAMS... It would defy logic
not to provide that information to the chaplain. How else could the school ensure the
parents’ absolutely no contact request be adhered to without informing the chaplain
that he could not have any contact whatsoever with the specified students?
Notwithstanding there would be specified ‘opt in’ students that he could offer services
to, if the chaplain was not advised of the students with which he was to have
absolutely no contact, then other than when involved in providing services to opt in
students, he could make no contact with any student whatsoever in any form
whatsoever. The information of who were ‘opt out’ students was not distributed
widely but on a ‘need to know’ basis for relevant class teachers and the leadership

group.

e Administration details of NSCP are kept on file. From July 2008, ‘opt in’ students will be
identified in SAMS. What is not kept on file is the nature of discussion between Pastor
McMillan and the individuals that see him. As a means of monitoring the program, verbal
reports are regularly taken from classroom teachers, parents and the chaplain to indicate
whether participation is having positive outcomes. Some parents have expressed the
desire that school staff have minimal dealings with the confidential information which is
the subject of the chaplaincy service being provided to the student.

After this response from DET, further areas required clarification and additional information.
During the assessment of this complaint several other complaints were forwarded to my
office by concerned parents and so | merged the matters into the investigation.

| received more information on 11 September 2008 from Ms Margaret Banks which became
part of the investigation.

9.3 Complainant C - Humpty Doo Primary School

Complainant C contacted my office on 18 August 2008 about her concerns over the previous
year. In February 2008 she had involved DET as she felt she was getting nowhere with
Humpty Doo Primary School. The complainant’s issues were two pronged, firstly she said
that a simple request for her son’s session notes with the chaplain took 10 weeks to obtain
and involved the General Manager Schools — PARCS’. These notes were requested from Ms
FH, Principal Humpty Doo Primary School on several occasions® in June 2008 as the child

7 Email dated 8 August 2008 from Mr TM, Chairperson Humpty Doo Primary School Council to Ms Maree
Garrigan seeking notes on behalf of the complainant, extract from email: As the Chair of the Humpty Doo
Primary School Council, | believe the handling of this most sensitive issue may well determine the future conduct
of the NSCP at Humpty Doo Primary School. As you will be aware, a number of very vocal parents..... continue to
question the legitimacy of the NSCP, and in view of the previous paucity of consultation with school councils,
this belligerence appears to be spreading. | would be concerned at the loss of what has the potential to prove to
be a highly successful surveillance program for at risk children, over a matter which can, and should, be
addressed quite simply......

® Email dated 3 June 2008 from complainant to Ms FH requesting child X’s file from the chaplains (email
acknowledges there was a previous request). Email acknowledged by Ms FH in an email dated 7 June 2008.
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psychologist treating the complainant’s son had required them. An earlier email dated 7
March 2008 addressed to Mr Kevin Gillan, acknowledged Ms FH’s refusal to provide the
requested information on the basis that the information shared between the chaplain and
child X was confidential.

A meeting was held on 8 August 2008 with Ms Maree Garrigan, the complainant, the child
psychologist and Mr Stuart McMillan to discuss the complainant’s concerns’. The
complainant was eventually provided with 5 pages of drawings'® and one page of notes
prepared by Mr Stuart McMillan which briefly detailed sessions with her son. The notes
recorded that Mr Stuart McMillan had been using the Room 14 — A Social Language
Program™ and was perceived by the child psychologist as stepping over professional
boundaries.

The second prong of the complainant’s concerns asked the chaplain’s qualifications to be
able to provide the Room 14 program and his ability to use the program given the
complainant’s lack of prior knowledge about the program and lack of informed consent. The
complainant said that Mr Stuart McMillan had left one of the school counsellors with the
impression that her son did not need to be referred to a professional. In the complainant’s
email to Ms Maree Garrigan, General Manager Schools — PARCS on 12 August 2008, the
complainant was seeking verification that Mr Stuart McMillan had operated within the NSCP
guidelines.

The complainant forwarded a further email on 19 August 2008 to Ms Maree Garrigan, Mr
Chris Sheedy™ and others in relation to the details obtained about the Room 14 program
and following up a response with Ms Garrigan in relation to her earlier emails. Ms Garrigan
responded by email on 19 August 2008 advising Room 14 is a resource that can be used by
anyone, including parents, to assist students in developing social skills. We will continue to
work and liaise with Student Services in relation to suitable programs for supporting students
in developing such skills. In a further email by the complainant dated 19 August 2008 she
sought to confirm that she still wanted the following questions answered:

1. Is this program approved for use within Northern Territory Schools?
2. Does the deliverance of this program fall within the NSCP guidelines?

3. Is this program allowed to be delivered to students without consultation and or
parental consent?

Further email dated 17 June 2008 to Ms FH and copied to Ms Noelene McCormick following up on child X’s file.
Email dated 23 June 2008 by Ms FH to the complainant provided requested dates of sessions between the
chaplain and child X. Email dated 23 June 2008 by complainant to Ms FH then requested a time to meet with
the chaplain regarding notes held by the chaplain. Email dated 23 June 2008 from Ms FH to the complainant
advised a meeting could be arranged when the chaplaincy program had been reinstated and all parties had
returned from leave. As a result the complainant forwarded an email to Mr Kevin Gillan, Executive Director
Schools North questioning Ms FH’s response and explaining the request for the notes had come from the child
psychologist.

° There were no formal minutes recorded for this meeting, however the child psychologist had recorded his
own notes of the meeting, details are provided later in the report under section 12.4.1.

1% Email dated 19 June 2008 from Ms Noelene McCormick to the complainant advising NSCP doesn’t require
files to be kept on students and | have been assured that no additional information is kept at Humpty Doo
School. It is possible however that the chaplain kept diary notes of his interactions with child X but you will need
to confirm that with him.... Email from complainant to Maree Garrigan dated 8 August 2008 .... it would appear
in child X’s case that Stuart does have diary notes and paperwork (drawings etc)..... | would appreciate it being
suggested to Stuart that he make this paperwork available.

u Developed by Carolyn C. Wilson and published through LinguiSystems.

2 state Manager, South Australia, Australian Government DEEWR.
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The complainant’s email dated 19 August 2008 stated that Mr Stuart McMillan represented
himself as providing parenting programs through NAPCAN when qualifying himself for the
parenting advice provided in the Chaplaincy Chat.** The complainant said she had made
enquiries with NAPCAN* and was unable to confirm Mr Stuart McMillan’s representations.

On 19 August 2008 the complainant sent to my office an email dated 11 April 2008
addressed to Mr Chris Sheedy’ which provided the following background information:

My son child X is a year 5 student at Humpty Doo Primary, last year (year 4) he
started to get bullied, | approached his teacher on several occasions to see if there
was a problem and was dismissed that there were no problems and child X just
needed to be a little more resilient.

The bullying persisted and again | questioned what was happening, also letting his
teacher know that the method she was using in the classroom for bully reporting
was not working for X. She had a method of ‘put it in writing’ this would be great if
all 9 year old boys were articulate enough to put their feelings and emotions in
writing. There was no way child X could have successfully used this method when
he was already so distraught about the bullying he had sustained at lunchtime.
Hence you can see the pattern here of where everything went wrong.

In August 07 this situation ended up escalating, child X felt so hopeless resulting in
him threatening to bring a knife to school and stab another student so he would be
dead and then he would stop. This threat was screamed to the other child in front
of two teachers and about 50 students.

| was devastated; | could not believe child X was in such a bad way, | approached
the Principal to set up a meeting to organize some help for child X. | wrote a huge
letter letting them know what had been happening and requesting assistance for
child X. During the meeting both myself and my husband let the school know that
we felt that child X would benefit from seeing a school councillor (sic). | couldn’t
believe it when they said they had a guy named Stuart McMillan who worked with
the school and he just happened to be at school that day and was brought into the
meeting to be introduced to us.

When we saw Stuart | was aware we knew him outside of school, | was aware he
was the pastor on the Uniting Church. | made mention that we did not want
religion addressed with child X. | was told by the Vice Principal Mr. GM that no
religion would be addressed and that Stuart was very professional being able to

3 Section of the Humpty Doo Primary School newsletter.
" Emails dated 18 and 19 August 2008 — support communications with NAPCAN.

15 Mr Chris Sheedy’s response dated 20 August 2008 stated:

........ The NSCP does not prescribe specific activities that a chaplain can or cannot undertake while
undertaking the role of chaplain. Each chaplain, must, however, sign a Code of Conduct. The Code
of Conduct covers behaviours and aspects of the chaplain’s role and indicates the standards
expected of the chaplain in delivering services funded under the program. The Department believes
that school principals, schools and their communities are best placed to determine if Room 14, or
any other program, would be of benefit to their students. It is a matter for the principal and local
school community to make judgements on such matters. The complainant in an email dated 20
August 2008 sought further information from Mr Chris Sheedy in relation to parental consent and
establishing who was responsible for monitoring breaches of the Chaplains Code of Conduct.
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separate the two roles being his role within the school and his role within the
church.

| agreed to Stuart seeing child X, given the situation | believed Stuart to be the
school councillor (sic), who else would you refer a child to that has threatened
another students life.

Stuart would see child X on a regular (weekly) basis calling child X out of class and
they would have a chat and Stuart would read a book and child X would have to let
Stuart know what feelings and emotions were raised. He also suggested that child
X draw a picture of his feelings at home as a little bit of homework and he could
bring it to the next meeting. | think he suggested that next time child X got angry
he could try counting to 10, (child X told me he thought this was lame, when he
was out of control the last thing he could think about doing was counting to 10).
Child X also said that at times he would be with Stuart alone in a closed door
situation, a matter the school strongly denies.

Weather to (sic) door was open or closed now seems highly irrelevant, given that |
have a lot bigger concern to be raised.

Everything seemed to be moving quite slowly, X didn’t seem to be any more settled
and was still showing signs of aggression and anxiety. | had not had any feedback
from Stuart and we were starting to ask around about private counsellors available
in the community. It was then in November that | found out that the Uniting Church
was housing a pedophile in our community, it was also then that | realized that
Stuart had no qualifications to be counselling child X.

| immediately put a No Contact form on both my children’s files preventing the
chaplains being able to access them. | was scared like the majority of the
community that the chaplains at school could be so off handed with our children’s
safety. | am a strong believer that the majority of pedophiles are unable to be
rehabilitated; it is not if they will re-offend it is when they will re-offend.

I can fully appreciate that the church has a place for them in their community; | can
even understand that they may try to offer assistance in rehabilitation or a cure. It
is their belief that the pedophile housed in our community was of no danger as the
church had cured him of his illness.

This brings me to my next concern if a child they were offering ‘pastoral care’ to,
gave any indication that they were being sexually abused at home would they:

a. Inform relevant authorities, or

b. Approach the family to ‘cure’ the perpetrator, hence helping the child and
believing they had acted just as their faith instructs them too. | believe some
people of strong faith/religion believe they are bound and reportable to God
foremost.

We have taken child X to our GP who immediately referred him to a child
psychologist and discussed with him the situation. He was horrified, firstly that the
school could abuse the services offered by the Chaplaincy program in this way and
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second that Stuart offered a level of ‘Therapy’ to child X that he is completely
unqualified to offer.

| mentioned to Roger Newman that child X had been seen by a child psychologist
who agreed in his professional opinion that child X’s situation called for a referral
to Student Services who would have been able to organize appropriate care for
him. Roger was quite interested in child X’s psychologist point of view on this
matter and also went on to have a meeting with him, reporting his findings also.

As you can imagine they were along the lines of anger and astonishment that the
chaplains would overstep their boundaries in offering unqualified therapy to school
students. He also went on to say that if Stuart had been a councillor (sic) or
psychologist his actions would have been enough to have him struck off the
register.

This program has been extremely detrimental to our family. While | can not say
that the therapy offered by Stuart harmed child X in anyway the fact that it
prolonged him being referred to a qualified councillor (sic) is devastating alone.
Child X could have been well on the way to recovery/understating with strategies
put in place and appropriate coping skills acquired. What if child X had of carried
out his threat of violence not receiving the help he needed, who would have been
responsible for that?

In child X’s case | would rather have been told that they did not have school
councillors (sic) available but could offer Stuart for ‘pastoral care’ if | like. This
would have left me to make an informed choice.

After receiving General Findings and Recommendations from Mr Kevin Gillan, DET Executive
Director following Mr Roger Newman’s report the complainant wanted to know when
chaplains took over a class, where did children without NSCP permission go.

On 6 March 2008 the complainant had met with Ms FH, Ms CE'® and Ms CF'. The
complainant said during this meeting she was told a school counsellor was not available to
provide services to child X at that time. While the complainant discussed the bullying child X
experienced, the complainant identified her and child X had met with the Assistant Principal,
Mr GM, to go through student photos on the computer system. Although considered a trivial
point by the complainant her concerns were raised when Ms FH denied this would have ever
happened. The week following the meeting 10 March 2008 the complainant emailed Mr GM
and expressed her concerns about Ms FH’s denial and sought confirmation that the process
did occur. On 14 March 2008 Mr GM responded by requesting any correspondence relating
to this issue be directed to Mr Kevin Gillan as the Executive Director. Mr Kevin Gillan
responded on 16 March 2008 by recognising the complainant’s concern was a school based
issue and referring the email to the General Manager PARCS.

Following correspondence forwarded by the complainant to the Minister for Employment,
Education and Training, the Honourable Marion Scrymgour MLA, a response dated 6 May
2008 was received. The response was premised on the advice provided by DET, which stated
satisfaction with the findings of the external investigation and found that the school and
Pastor McMillan acted appropriately in this matter. Further to this the complainant received

1® Assistant Principal at the time.
' DET Student Services.
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an email dated 29 August 2008 from schoolchaplaincy@deewr.gov.au advising that DET was
best placed to work with the complainant to address the suitability of individual reference
materials. The email stated:

It is the responsibility of the schools to make decisions about particular resources
used in schools, and issues regarding parental consent. This is consistent with the
School Principal’s overall responsibility for student welfare and for communication
with, and responsiveness to, the school community. Under the NSCP the School
Principal and the funding recipient must take all reasonable steps to ensure that
school chaplains comply with the Code of Conduct....... If there is an actual or
perceived breach of the Code of Conduct, the school chaplain must cease providing
chaplaincy services. The funding recipient is required to notify the Department if it
becomes aware of such a situation. In such circumstances, school chaplains must
not continue to provide any services under the Program unless the Department
gives its written agreement for the chaplaincy services to continue.

In response to DEEWR on 8 September 2008 the complainant wrote advising an own motion
investigation had been commenced by my office and asked, should this not qualify to
suspend the chaplaincy programme. On 9 September 2008 Mr Chris Sheedy, State Manager,
South Australia, DEEWR responded that the investigation undertaken by his department was
concluded and a decision was made not to take any action in relation to suspending the
school chaplaincy services at that stage. The email acknowledged DEEWR would fully
cooperate with any investigation undertaken by my office.

In an email from the complainant dated 9 September 2008 addressed to Ms Eva Lawler, DET,
concerns were raised in relation to a three year advance payment of NSCP funds to the
Uniting Church. It was claimed that minutes of the Girraween School Council meeting in
2007 identified this advance payment of $60,000.

Each of the concerns raised by the complainant have been considered within this report as
part of the investigation.

9.4 Complainant D — Berry Springs Primary School and Taminmin High School

On 28 September 2007 the NSCP funding became effective at Berry Springs Primary School.
On 11 October 2007 complainant D met with the School Principal, Ms SD and the Assistant
School Principal at the time, Ms HB, demanding no contact with the chaplains for her two
children. This was then confirmed in writing to DET on 16 October 2007. On this day the
complainant addressed a similar letter to Ms Roslyn McMillan, school chaplain and handed it
to Mr Stuart McMillan telling him ‘consider it addressed to himself as well.” On 17 October
2007 the complainant received a letter from the chaplains with no acknowledgement of her
demands within the letter. The letter included a statement which the complainant said was
false. The complainant said the Kids Club was being run from the library by Ms Roslyn
McMillan alone and the complainant’s son had been receiving religious instruction on a
regular basis without her permission. The complainant said that this religious instruction was
opposing her own beliefs and those she had taught her children.

On 30 October 2007 the complainant’s two children attended orientation day at Taminmin
High School. Whilst there one of her children was placed in a group led by Mr Stuart
McMillan even after the complainant’s no contact order. On the same day the two chaplains
Mr Stuart McMillan and Ms Roslyn McMillan approached the complainant’s two children, an
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act the complainant considers to be a blatant misconduct. As a result the complainant wrote
to Mr AC, Principal Taminmin High School to insist on no contact between the chaplains and
her children, information the complainant expected to have been passed on prior to the
orientation day. The complainant said she attended the Berry Springs Primary School Council
with her concerns; however, felt they did not take her seriously as they had not viewed the
guidelines.

Correspondence dated 14 November 2007 addressed to the Chairperson Berry Springs
Primary School Council from Stuart and Ros McMillan and signed by Ms Roslyn McMillan
was provided to this office by the complainant. The letter read as follows:

Provision of Chaplaincy Services

We are aware of yet another attempt to discredit the chaplaincy service that is
currently being delivered at Berry Springs Primary School. This is very
disappointing, & so we feel it is necessary to clearly state our position:

1. The School Council at its last meeting endorsed the provision of the
service by Living Water Chaplaincy Services, with Ros McMillan as the
Chaplain. This decision was not made lightly, but with input from
DEET and with careful, logical consideration. Challenging their
decision challenges the integrity of the members of the Council.

2. The service that we provide is professional. The suggestion that we
would act in an unprofessional manner is scurrilous and defamatory.
Our commitment to the wellbeing of children and enhancement of
community capacity has been, and continues to be, one of our
foundational principles.

3. The small group of people who seek to undermine the delivery and
effectiveness of the chaplaincy service are basing their arguments on
selected information, assumptions and half-truths, and are ignoring
many of the facts. We are open to dialogue.

4. There are five key aspects to the chaplaincy service we deliver,
detailed in a document given to the Principal. Given desperate need
for additional resource people in rural schools, the destructive actions
of this small group are disadvantaging the children and community of
Berry Springs.

We urge you to consider the wellbeing of Berry Springs school community by
upholding the decision made at the last School Council meeting, and confidently
proceed with the chaplaincy service offered by Living Water Chaplaincy Services.

We are happy to answer any further questions.
Stuart and Ros McMillan

In 2008, both of the complainant’s children commenced at Taminmin High School. The
complainant felt that at no stage was any substantial information provided to the school
community to constitute broad consultation about the programme. The complainant said
she was refused a hardcopy newsletter by Taminmin High School, which was a request made
due to the complainant not having email access.
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The complainant raised her NSCP concerns with Mr AC, Principal Taminmin High School at
the commencement of 2008. The complainant said that Mr AC told her if the NSCP providers
entered her children’s classes then her children should take the matter into their own hands.
Her children should leave the classroom and go sit in the office to ensure compliance with
the complainant’s no contact order. The complainant stated that she expressed her
dissatisfaction with this but was provided with no other options. On 25 February 2008 the
complainant said that this situation did arise as her daughter was required to leave her
health class and sit unsupervised in the office until the class was over. The complainant felt
quite distressed that a chaplain had more right to be in her child’s class than her child who
was there to be educated.

On 28 February 2008 the complainant said she made a verbal complaint to DET through Ms
Linda Dawson, Director School Operations as the complainant said her written complaints
had not been acknowledged. After several calls she received a verbal response which did not
sufficiently address her concerns. The complainant then sought a response in writing. The
written response by Ms Linda Dawson was dated 12 March 2008 and acknowledged the
chaplains were not employed as teachers or as departmental employees and duty of care for
the class remained with the teacher. It was also stated that as part of the chaplains’ role
they assisted with activities in the games room at lunchtimes and during recess, and at
lunchtime they were present in some areas of the school yard. The response stated that a
police clearance had been obtained for the chaplains and there was no information
communicated to Taminmin High School about the no contact order for her children. Ms
Linda Dawson also noted that in future Taminmin High School would liaise with the primary
schools to ensure this type of information was communicated.

The complainant said she raised her concerns in relation to the NSCP with the Taminmin
High School Council, in which she believed they had little interest and proceeded to endorse
the programme without having seen the guidelines. The complainant said that when she
asked the council members about the NSCP guidelines no one knew what she was talking
about.

In June 2008 the complainant was diagnosed with breast cancer and so she approached Mr
AC as Principal of Taminmin High School to discuss her diagnosis. It was intended that Mr AC
advise the children’s teachers and the wellbeing team of this situation so they could offer
support if required. The complainant said that when she confirmed her no contact order
with the Principal, he did not agree with her concerns but would follow her wishes. This
would be achieved by ensuring her family’s situation was not discussed at the wellbeing
team meetings due to the presence of the NSCP providers. This assurance created more
concern for the complainant as she believed the team that existed to assist children for
these specific times would not be available to her children. The complainant also raised with
my office an objection to the NSCP providers attending all wellbeing team meetings and
discussing private information about students with no parental consent.
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10.0 The Witnesses

After the investigation by my office began, several other parents were identified as having
concerns.

10.1 Witness A - Bees Creek Primary School

| received a copy of an email dated 20 March 2008 sent to the Minister for Employment,
Education and Training, the Honourable Marion Scrymgour MLA. The parts relevant to the
investigation were:

1.

2. The chaplain at my children’s school, Bees Creek is being used for
behaviour management on a regular basis and was used in this way
to counsel my son and several boys whom | had complained were
bullying him. My permission for this was neither sought nor given.

4. The Living Waters Uniting Church saw fit to run a residential
rehabilitation program for a convicted pedophile in the middle of a
school and community precinct at Humpty Doo and did not think
that this compromised children’s safety or the man’s rehabilitation
prospects.

5. The pastor of the Living Waters Uniting church lied on at least two
points over this debacle in a phone conversation | had with her this
week (and was forced to admit one lie)... She is counselling at
schools.

7. Anecdotally some of her other comments regarding the
complainants and their motivation are horrifying, being that ‘only
someone who had been sexually abused themselves would bother
to complain’ (about the pedophile being the community hall
caretakers house), that most people are not that bothered by
paedophiles...

8. She believes that she was in the right in housing this man opposite
the main rural school bus interchange and that if only those
complaining mothers had not found out, everything would have
been all right. She claims to have had police approval for this.

The witness was interviewed by phone. She said that her son was being bullied at school and
so he had been referred by the Principal to Mr Jason Purugganan, chaplain at the school. The
witness was not sure whether her son received one-on-one sessions or whether he attended
group sessions.

The witness said she contacted Ms Roslyn McMillan to discuss her concerns about the
paedophile living at the Meeting Place and working as a caretaker. The witness said that Ms
Roslyn McMillan initially denied the situation, however when the witness challenged this Ms
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McMillan defended the situation. The witness said that the chaplain did not feel she had
done anything wrong with the paedophile and the rehabilitation program being run and
stated ‘if these mothers hadn’t found out about it, it would all be alright.”

The witness’s view is that services for behaviour management should be provided by
gualified counsellors.

10.2 Witness B - Bees Creek Primary School Council Member 2007-2009

Witness B had children in Taminmin High School and Bees Creek Primary School. The witness
met with Mr JT, Principal Bees Creek Primary School to discuss her disapproval of the
chaplaincy programme. In addition to this a letter was forwarded to the Principal stating that
her children should not be involved in ‘any shape or form’ the chaplaincy programme.

The witness’s daughter recounted her day to her mother each day after school. On one
particular day, which cannot be recalled, her daughter told her that she had joined a chess
club. The witness later found that the chess club was operated by the chaplaincy service. The
witness said they raised this concern with the Principal and was made to feel ‘it was all my
fault that my child didn’t have knowledge that she wasn’t allowed in the chess club and that
it was now my problem to tell her that she was no longer allowed to do this chess club thing.’
The witness said that her daughter was allowed to walk into the chess club without any
permission.

The witness also said her close friend’s son who attended Bees Creek Primary School was
spoken to privately by the chaplain without a teacher present. The close friend did not want
to be identified as her son was currently dealing with enough, however the witness said that
she had signed a ‘no contact’ letter.

The witness raised another concern and said there were two sisters fighting at Berry Springs
Primary School:

as siblings do, when Ros McMillan pulled them aside, spoke to them and started
asking weird questions about who comes to your house, where do you guys sleep,
what does mum and dad do, and don’t worry about telling mum about this. And
the girls being good girls and rural girls do go home and tell mum...

One of the primary concerns of this witness was the fact that a paedophile was being
accommodated by the chaplains in the middle of a school and community area. The witness
was one of the parents that attended a group meeting with other parents and Mr Stuart
McMillan. The meeting was held at the Rise, Uniting Church Living Waters site. The witness
felt that the concerns raised by the parents about the close proximity of the housing for the
convicted paedophile were not taken seriously. The witness said that when one of the
parents asked what Mr Stuart McMillan would do if he was presented with a similar
situation of housing a paedophile in the same proximity, he replied he would do the same as
he had not done anything wrong.

The witness had been a member of the Bees Creek Primary School Council when the Council
approved the NSCP. She said that there was only one school council meeting before it was
signed off. At that meeting the chaplaincy programmes to be introduced were discussed by
Mr Stuart McMillan, however, the witness claims there was no vote taken amongst the
committee members.
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10.3 Witness C - Girraween Primary School Council Member 2007-2008

This witness’s children were previously at Girraween Primary School, however were
removed and placed into another school due to parental concerns. The concerns stemmed
from the chaplains’ close proximity to the witness’s children and the witness feeling her
concerns were being ignored.

The witness had extreme concerns about the paedophile being housed at the Meeting Place
on the Living Waters site in Humpty Doo. As a result the witness commenced a petition at
the school collecting names of other parents ‘who wouldn’t approve of the particular
chaplain...running our chaplaincy program at school.” The witness further stated that when
she had the petition in her hands and was at a school assembly, Ms Roslyn McMillan was
also in attendance at the assembly. The witness said she approached Ms Roslyn McMillan
and told her she was not happy with her or her husband having anything to do with the
witness’s children. Ms Roslyn McMillan then asked the witness to talk about her concerns,
so the two met at the church and spoke for two and one half hours. The witness was keen to
establish why the chaplains had accommodated a convicted paedophile in the close
proximity of a school and community area. The response received by the witness was that it
was a matter of convenience. The Meeting Place needed a caretaker and the convicted
paedophile needed a job and the chaplains felt this was the type of situation that would
keep the convicted paedophile away from the children. The witness said she pointed out to
Ms Roslyn McMillan that the area of choice included three schools, a childcare centre, and a
park across the road, about which Ms Roslyn McMillan did not seem concerned.

The witness said that Ms Roslyn McMillan told her ‘the only reason you have an issue with
this is because you must have been sexually abused as a child.” The witness was highly
offended by this. The witness said that the Meeting Place was used as emergency
accommodation by parents with children and the caretaker would be considered a safe
person by the children. She was concerned about that.

The witness said that the convicted paedophile was using the Taminmin High School Library
during school hours. This was something told to her and denied by the chaplains. The
witness said that Ms Roslyn McMillan told her that the chaplains didn’t have much to do
with the convicted paedophile’s day to day affairs, but his wife who was also accommodated
at the Meeting Place would be looking after his best interests. The witness said ‘I don’t
blame him because he is a sick man, | blame them because they made the decision to put him
there and disregarded the fact that the kids were all around him...’

The witness said she continued with the petition and obtained a page of signatures which
were presented to a School Council meeting. She said that as Ms Roslyn McMillan and Ms
MB, Principal Girraween Primary School became aware of the petition a spokeswoman for
the chaplaincy service also attended that particular council meeting. The witness always
attended fifteen minutes into the meetings due to family responsibilities. She said that when
she entered the meeting the chaplaincy spokeswoman had just completed her spiel. This led
the witness to feel intimidated as she felt all eyes were on her and ‘how dare she try and
stop this.” The witness said she tried to explain to the school council that she didn’t want to
stop the program but was scrutinising the Uniting Church at Humpty Doo. She said that she
brought out the NSCP guidelines and emphasised to the council there should be a
demonstrated need for the programme.
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The witness said that Ms Roslyn McMillan attended a school council meeting and introduced
herself as Ros. At that meeting Ms Roslyn McMillan asked the council members about their
awareness of government funding for a chaplaincy program. According to the witness Ms
Roslyn McMillan told the Council that the government funding basically pays for someone
like her to attend the school as a chaplain. ‘it was simply stated the government were
funding it, we could do it, thank you very much. And then she left.” 8

The witness recalled that the school council felt it was a great idea simply because there
would be an extra person to assist. The witness said that the requirement for demonstrated
need and community consultation were not taken on board as the school council could
obtain the funded program at no cost. The witness said she suggested that the council send
out a letter to the families however she said this was quashed and the view was ‘why would
we bother sending out pamphlets when nobody responds to them and we already give out a
lot of pieces of paper to everybody.” The Principal of Girraween Primary School, Ms MB, was
present at the school council meeting. The witness said that Ms MB did not address the
witness’s concerns. The witness originally seconded the proposal to introduce the program
but at the next meeting when she raised her concerns about the McMillans’ as chaplains no-
one was willing to listen.

In an earlier meeting with Ms MB, Principal, the witness said she was told that providing a
chaplaincy service to the school and the same chaplains accommodating a convicted
paedophile were two separate issues. The witness felt the chaplains’ decision to place a
convicted paedophile surrounded by children reflected badly on their ability to make
decisions in the children’s best interests. The witness felt these chaplains were not suitable
to provide the chaplaincy service at the schools.

The witness also said once the chaplaincy program commenced ‘if anybody had an issue that
they thought that they needed to go to the chaplain they could just walk by... If the teacher
thought that a child would have an issue then they would be able to get... referred to by the
teacher. Or, of course, if the office was having issues with a particular child they may be, ...
could go to the chaplain. It was, ... another thing that | brought to everybody’s attention is
that they weren’t actually trained counsellors, they were purely there for an ear, not to guide
them on anything.” The witness said that she queried why we don’t have a trained counsellor
if there was a need for troubled students as there was only one available through Taminmin
High School with a long waiting list. The witness said that the council suggested it was too
hard to gain the services of a qualified person and it would be easy to ‘have Ros or Stuart or
Jason’.

Another incident related by the witness was after school when her daughter discussed what
she had done for the day. The daughter referred to a Mr P in her class that day helping her
with her reading. The witness established that Mr P was Mr Jason Purugganan, chaplain. This
occurred after she had submitted her letter of ‘no contact.” The witness then addressed this
with her daughter’s teacher who was new to the school. The teacher had no awareness of
the ‘no contact’ letter. The witness then went to Ms MB, Principal. She said that the Principal
apologised but did not explain why this incident had occurred. The witness then put her
concerns to Mr Jason Purugganan, chaplain. When the witness approached the chaplain he
pulled out a slip of paper with the names of children with whom he was to have no contact
and replied ‘oh, yes she is on my list.” The witness queried why he had gone in the
classroom with her daughter present. The chaplain went on to explain that he needed to be
introduced to the classroom so the students were aware he was a safe person. The witness

' Quote by witness C during her interview with my office.
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was outraged and responded ‘that’s exactly what | didn’t want for my daughter ... to think
you are a sdfe person. You’re probably a very nice person....The decisions that you guys make
putting that paedophile there have made me really ....outraged and I’m not wanting you to
make any decisions on my behalf regarding my child.” The witness said she knew of another
child who was in the class when Mr Jason Purugganan was assisting with the reading, whose
mother had also submitted a ‘no contact’ letter.

The witness said there was no information or newsletter to parents advising them that the
chess club was being run by the chaplains.

The witness said she would see Ms Roslyn McMillan at the school on days not allocated to
provide her services. The witness and her children had other contact outside of the school
with Ms Roslyn McMillan whilst shopping (Target) even though she said Ms Roslyn McMillan
was aware of the ‘no contact’ letter. Ms Roslyn McMillan does not recall this incident. She
did not deny it and said that her intention would have been to communicate with the
mother and not the children.

Eventually the witness removed her children from the school as she felt she could not affect
the comings and goings of the chaplains and their contact with her children. She said that
she did not disclose to the Principal her true reasons for removing her children but now
wished she had.

10.4 Witness D - Berry Springs Primary School Council Member 2006-2008

The witness’s children attended Berry Springs Primary School but were removed and placed
elsewhere. The reason for moving the children was a perceived culture of bullying within the
school. The way the school handled parents’ concerns relating to the chaplaincy service was
frightening to the witness. The witness said that the chaplaincy programme was discussed at
several school council meetings, the first in December 2006. The witness recalled the way
that the program was described ‘it was offered up as a counselling service...if there was a
very dramatic incidence...grief counselling was something that came up.’

The witness said that at one of the school council meetings it was said ‘we really don’t know
what parents think’ so the witness suggested ‘why don’t we ask them’. The witness said that
Ms SD, Principal, thought it would be alright for her to get a list of parents who were either
opposed or supportive. The witness then sought to obtain names of parents who opposed
the chaplaincy programme. The witness said that the spiel she provided to the parents on
obtaining their signature was ‘I said were they aware there was a chaplaincy program
starting in the school and were they aware of the people who were running it, and....were
they aware that those people were also running a rehabilitation program for paedophiles in
the rural area.” The witness stated she did not coerce any parent into signing. The witness
said that when she went to present her list to the school council they were not interested.
Even though another council member spoke out about the programme, the remainder of the
council voted for the programme. The witness reiterated she did not have a problem with
the programme only the people proposed to run it. The witness said the council did not
accept her list. The council then surveyed the school community.

The witness recalled one of the parents (complainant D) attending a school council meeting
to put forward her concerns about the chaplaincy service. The witness recalled that the
council treated the parent quite rudely, didn’t listen to her and gave her a hard time even
though she presented well thought out ideas and concerns.

38



10.5 WitnessE

The witness’s children do not attend the schools within the scope of this investigation'®. The
witness attended the meeting held with parents and Mr Stuart McMillan to discuss concerns
about the convicted paedophile being housed so closely to the schools and community area.
There were approximately fifteen parents in attendance.

The witness said that when the concerns were put to Mr Stuart McMillan at the meeting he
went into defensive mode by defending what he had done and defending the convicted
paedophile in particular. The witness said Mr Stuart McMillan initially denied the convicted
paedophile had ‘those previous problems. He also denied that he had been convicted of
them. He denied even that he was there at that point.’

The witness told my Investigation Officer one of the parents produced a court transcript at
the meeting. She said Mr Stuart McMillan was surprised and said the transcript ‘was
absolute rubbish.” According to the witness Mr Stuart McMillan called Justice Riley a liar.
The witness said Mr Stuart McMillan told the group ‘that this is not the first time that they
have brought somebody of this capacity”® into the community and it certainly won’t be the
last.” The witness said that parents asked how the chaplains were treating the convicted
paedophile; Mr Stuart McMillan responded ‘by hands on healing’ described as ‘where they
all stood around this habitual offender and put their hands on him and prayed for him.” The
witness said that Mr Stuart McMillan tried to convince parents that the convicted
paedophile was a safe person around children. The witness told the Principal of St Francis of
Assisi about the registered paedophile living nearby, and in response a six foot fence
between the Meeting Place and the school was erected.

The witness said that the information provided in the applications for NSCP funding
prepared by the Principals of the schools was incorrect. The witness said that a claim was
made by the Principals that there were many public housing units in the area. On counting
them she said there were a total of four.

The witness said she saw Mr Stuart McMillan take the said offender onto the school grounds
around September/October 2007. When asked how she came to know that it was the
offender with Mr Stuart McMillan the witness responded ‘We all knew it was M....N...... It’s a
small community.’

The witness said that several parents had removed their children from Humpty Doo Primary
School and placed them into St Francis of Assisi as a result of the chaplaincy programme. The
witness was aware of this as she greeted them on their commencement at the new school.

¥ The witness’s children attend St Francis of Assisi, which is located next door to the Meeting Place, the
location at which the convicted paedophile was being housed.
2% Witness defined this as a habitual sexual offender.
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10.6 Witness F - Berry Springs Primary School Council for 3 months

The witness’s children attended Berry Springs Primary School, but were removed and placed
into the Essington School as a result of concerns about the chaplaincy programme. The
witness said that the ‘school did not want to listen to parental concerns about the
programme and the chaplains. The witness said ‘Petitions were done, surveys were done and
even the last survey that the school did, the majority was against, even though there was an
even number in the amount of children affected. | questioned the Principal about this and she
said, well, we’ve decided to go for it because the school council felt that the program was
needed.

In an email dated 4 March 2008 to the witness from Ms Noelene McCormick® it was
acknowledged that the witness had provided written notification that her children were not
to have contact with the chaplain at Berry Springs School. The email further stated that the
names of the witness’s children would be placed on the ‘no contact list’, a copy of which was
given to the school chaplain Ros McMillan. The witness said she was not aware nor did she
provide permission for her children’s names to be placed on a ‘no contact’ list and be
provided to the chaplain. The witness’s expectations were that the names of her children be
provided to the relevant teachers so they could ensure no contact. When asked further
during her interview with my office the witness accepted that she thought the chaplain
might see her children’s names so she would know not to have contact, however she did not
expect a phone call from the chaplain, Ms Roslyn McMillan. The witness recounted:

It was the morning that | did give the school, [a ‘no contact’ direction] or I sent it
with my boy , to give to the school, and it would have been within two hours | got a
call from Ros McMillan, the chaplain. Now I’m trying to remember exactly what she
said. It was, | believe you do not wish your children to have contact or be on the
non contact list...| was quite shocked because my initial thought was, the school
has given my telephone number to the chaplain without my permission and | rang
the Education Department wanting to know what my rights were and that’s when
they looked into it and someone from the Education Department rang me and said
that she, the school did not give the telephone number, Ros McMillan had it and |
said, how can she have my telephone number.

What had happened was, over a year ago...l received a volunteers award for a play
group that I’d set up at the ... Now | had received a phone call, which | didn’t know
it was Ros then...| received a phone call saying, you have been nominated for a
volunteers award...so | accepted it...Now Ros McMillan’s reason for contacting me
(at home with respect to the ‘no contact’), feeling that she had the right because
we had some sort of relationship because she gave me the award...| said we had
absolutely no relationship...But still, even if we did have a relationship, that still did
not give her the right to ring me at home to want to discuss why my children are on
the non contact list...what is she doing with my phone number in her diary a year
later...you don’t cart diaries around with you for two years and then within a
couple of hours, oh | know that name, oh | gave her an award last year — looking up
my telephone number...it was just a bit suspicious...] can’t prove it, | think the
school did give my number.

The witness said that following the call from Roslyn McMillan, the School Council
Chairperson contacted a friend of the witness. The contact was to establish whether the

2t Acting General Manager Palmerston Rural, DET (previously Department of Employment, Education and
Training)
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witness was ‘approachable’ to discuss the chaplaincy programme. The witness could not
recall the name of the Chairperson. As a result of the attempted contact the witness
immediately emailed Ms SD, Principal, with her concerns.

The witness said that she had been a school council member in earlier years and believed it
was around the end of 2007 perhaps that the chaplains’ services were discussed. The
witness said that in 2008 she found out about the National Schools Chaplaincy Programme.
Prior to this the witness’ understanding was from the Principal saying ‘it’s that due to these
reasons, being, you know, a suicide in the community, we would like to be able to have Ros
McMillan here to maybe offer some support.’

The witness said that another parent’s son had attended the kids club held during lunch
time. The child opened the door and asked ‘what’s going on here, do we need permission’
and the response from the chaplain was ‘yes, but you come on in anyway.” No further
details as to the child were provided by the witness.

The witness raised objection to the demographic details provided within the NSCP
application and said it was an inaccurate reflection of the community.

The witness concluded by saying ‘although there are other schools in the area but they’ve all
got the chaplaincy program, all the rural government schools, they’ve got the same chaplain
in every school, so we chose a school that has no denomination, no religion whatsoever, no
chaplains, so that has come to us having to drive into town every day to educate my kids...”

10.7 Signed statement dated 27 October 2007

This statement was provided to my office by one of the complainants on 8 September 2008.
The exact origin of this document is unknown. The contents were put to Mr Stuart McMillan
and Ms Roslyn McMillan.

To whom it may concern,

| am AA who was carer for BB. BB was taken to a funeral by a Mrs Roslyn
McMiillian with out my consent. Mrs McMillian took BB to the location site where
BB’s friend committed suicide. On another Mrs McMillian was handing out
literature at a funeral BB attended. BB and | feel that this is totally inappropriate.
BB also received counselling by Mrs McMillian in this session Mrs McMillian
criticised my self and in BB’s words said some very bad things but BB was to
distraught to elaborate. Since the counselling she has become suicidal, had to
seek professional help and consequentially had to move out of the area......

Signed
Both Mr Stuart McMillan and Ms Roslyn McMillan informed my investigator that BB was
living with them at the time as they had known her since she was three and that the
described events did not occur as part of the chaplaincy services.

10.8 Signed statement dated 17 November 2007

This statement was provided to my office by one of the complainants on 8 September 2008.
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The exact origin of this document is unknown.

To whom it may concern,

My family and | stayed at the uniting church accommodation known as The
Meeting Place. | have grave concerns about the uniting church and their pastors
Mr and Mrs McMillian.

The church failed to inform me the caretaker of the Emergency accommodation
was a repeat offender pedophile. The caretaker visited my family regularly while
we were staying at the emergency accommodation. Mrs McMillian counselled
one of my children critcizing her mother leaving the child very upset. Our children
go to Humpty Doo Primary School where Mr McMillian has questioned the child
without our consent. | find the uniting church and the McMillians behaviour very
inappropriate.

Yours sincerely
Signed

Ms McMillan advised that at one point there was a family with six children residing in the
larger unit of the emergency accommodation. Ms McMillan advised that she attempted to
move this family on as they had been there for quite some time and were offered a house
elsewhere which they refused. Ms McMillan also advised that she was concerned about Mr
MN?? taking up residence with the family still residing there given they had six children. Ms
McMillan advised that she was not sure when the family found out about Mr MN's
background and believes she did not inform the family due to confidentiality reasons.
However Ms McMillan said she was aware the family knew of Mr MN's background.

My investigator did not pursue these statements further after receiving the explanations.

11.0 The Student Population

The schools considered within the scope of this investigation included the following:

Taminmin High School
Humpty Doo Primary School
Bees Creek Primary School
Berry Springs Primary School
Girraween Primary School

vk wN R

Berry Springs Primary School, located 60km south of Darwin, commenced operation in
September 1977 and has grown from a small one-teacher school to a major primary school
in the Palmerston and Rural area.”®> As at August 2008 there were 232 enrolments
accommodating preschool to Year 6.2* Girraween Primary School had 308 enrolments at that
time.”> Humpty Doo Primary School had 469 enrolments.?® Bees Creek Primary School had

%2 Convicted paedophile.

> http://www.schools.nt.edu.au/berryspringsschool/ourschool.html

** http://www.directory.deet.nt.gov.au/SchoolProfile.aspx?asset=00087&childAsset=00087

> http://www.directory.deet.nt.gov.au/SchoolProfile.aspx?name=Girraween%20Primary%20School
2 http://www.directory.deet.nt.gov.au/SchoolProfile.aspx?name=Humpty%20D00%20Primary%20School
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344 enrolments.”’ The children within the primary schools would primarily go up to the age
of 12.

As at August 2008 Taminmin High School had 1058 enrolments.”® The school is located in
close proximity to Humpty Doo Primary School and is approximately 40 kilometres south of
Darwin city. The school was established in 1983 and acts as the feeder school for the above
named primary schools. The facility accommodates students in years 7 to 12 also offering
VET courses.” The middle school is made up of approximately 600 students within years 7
to 9°° (approx 13 to 15 years of age). Taminmin Community Library is situated in the grounds
of Taminmin High School and services the students, staff and parents of Taminmin High
School and all residents of the local Rural Area.**

7 http://www.directory.deet.nt.gov.au/SchoolProfile.aspx?name=Bees%20Creek%20Primary%20School
*® http://www.directory.deet.nt.gov.au/SchoolProfile.aspx?name=Taminmin%20College

% http://www.taminmin.nt.edu.au/

%0 Transcript of interview with Ms MM on 21 September 2009.

3 http://www.taminmin.nt.edu.au/Middle/MSParentinformation.html
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12.0 Results of Issues Investigated

Issuel. The processes and procedures associated with the NSCP
and compliance with the applicable instruments,
guidelines and code by DET

When the NSCP commenced in schools Commonwealth government guidelines became
applicable and compliance compulsory. Following the commencement of the programme
and in particular the DET investigation conducted by Mr Roger Newman, directives, policy
and procedures were developed and implemented by DET. In assessing compliance of
processes and procedures all legislative and regulatory instruments were reviewed.

A chaplaincy/pastoral service was in place at most of the schools prior to the introduction of
the NSCP and the instruments regulating the pastoral/chaplaincy services at the time were
considered by this investigation.

Prior to the NSCP commencing Guidelines for Chaplaincies in Northern Territory Government
Schools dated November 2004 had been promulgated by DET. In addition to these guidelines
a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) had been entered into between the Local
Chaplaincy Committee, Living Waters Uniting Church and the Principal of Taminmin High
School. The MOU was premised on the 2004 Guidelines which stated ‘We, the parties to the
Memorandum of Understanding, are familiar with the Guidelines for Chaplaincies in
Northern Territory Government Schools and agree to work in association with...... to provide
a chaplaincy service in keeping with the stated principles and policies of these documents.’

On commencement of the NSCP from late 2007 through to early 2008, processes and
procedures had not been established within the various rural schools. This was said to be
because the schools had limited time due to the rushed implementation of the NSCP. The
Principals were predominantly reliant on the NSCP guidelines for direction, including the
Chaplains Code of Conduct. The NSCP funding agreement also placed conditions on the
funding recipient; however each of the Commonwealth instruments relied on certain issues
to be dealt with at a local level and were not sufficiently prescriptive for the schools or
chaplains.

In discussions with the Principals it was established that many of the school practices initially
adopted for the operation of the NSCP were not documented and were oral only. As a result
of parental concerns and following the investigation report prepared by Mr Roger Newman,
Mr Kevin Gillan, Executive Director prepared and issued to the Rural School Principals®
General Findings and Recommendations dated 18 April 2008. The recommendations
included:

® that Principals continue to manage the NSCP program and the Chaplains within DEEWR
guidelines.

® that Principals ensure that their school communities continue to receive up to date
information on the chaplaincy activities occurring in their schools.

e that schools operate the NSCP as an ‘opt in” program. Parents are to receive written
information in relation to the activities of the NSCP in the school and will be required to

* The rural school principals included all schools within the scope of this investigation.
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provide a signed and dated letter of approval for each of their children to participate in
the program and organised activities on an annual basis.

e (lass and whole school registers of ‘opt in’ students are to be regularly maintained and
adjusted according to new student enrolments and changes in parent approval.
Processes must be in place to ensure that Chaplains have up to date access to the
registers.

® As part of their reqular quality assurance process General Managers and Regional
Directors will monitor that the above recommendations are embedded in their schools.

Although the Recommendations set some parameters there was still insufficient detail about
administering the NSCP. An attempt to remedy this was made by DET developing and
implementing policy, guidelines and deed of agreement relating to the chaplaincy services
on or around 2009 and 2010.

The following sections consider the various processes and procedures adopted in relation to
the chaplaincy service.

12.1.1 Police clearance checks

In establishing the requirements associated with police clearance checks the funding
application signed by the School Principals’’ stated:
| agree to:

® Keep copies of all documentation relevant to my application, and provide these to
DEST if required. | understand this includes...records of Australian Federal Police
and working with children checks

e Notify DEST immediately in writing following an adverse result of an Australian
Federal Police or working with children check...

In addition to the above, the Funding Agreement stipulated at paragraph C.17:

You must ensure that all school chaplains have a current Australian Federal Police
(AFP) criminal history check...These checks must be renewed every two (2) years from
the date of the initial check.

Each of the chaplains’ police clearance checks from when they started providing services to
the schools were reviewed with the following information established.

Chaplain Date of Dates of police clearances

commencement*
Jason Purugganan 16 October 2007 30 October 2007 23 November 2009
Roslyn McMillan 2004 23 November 2007 19 November 2009
Stuart McMiillan 2004 30 October 2007 24 November 2009

* Commencement of any chaplaincy/pastoral care services including pre-NSCP to the schools within the scope
of investigation including critical incidents and bereavement support.

The police clearances obtained in 2007 and 2009 by the chaplains and accepted by the
School Principals are Northern Territory Police clearances nationwide and NOT Australian

% Of the schools within the scope of this investigation.
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Federal Police clearances. As there is no requirement to provide the Commonwealth
Department with a copy of the clearance unless there is an adverse finding this discrepancy
would not have been evident to the Commonwealth. Without further deliberation on any
differences between the two clearances, | am concerned that the clearance obtained by the
chaplains and accepted by the Principals was not through the stipulated police agency, the
Australian Federal Police. This discrepancy is a matter for DET to consider.

| am satisfied that a sufficient clearance was obtained by two of the chaplains prior to
entering into the schools; Nationwide check with fingerprints and included spent
convictions. The exception being Mr Jason Purugganan, which has been discussed further in
the next paragraph. The Funding Agreement paragraph C.17 as noted above also required
the checks to be renewed every two years, which became due in October and November
2009 for the respective chaplains. As is demonstrated in the table above this requirement
was complied with by each of the chaplains.

Mr Jason Purugganan commenced working on 16 October 2007>* as a chaplain within Bees
Creek Primary School; however he did not obtain a police clearance until two weeks later. In
questioning Mr JT, Principal Bees Creek Primary School about Mr Jason Purugganan’s
criminal history check he stated He’s also a trained and registered teacher in the NT and of
other schools and I've viewed those qualifications....... He had an NT Teacher Registration
Card. | also checked with the NT Registration Board, TRB, so | knew he was a qualified
teacher and that he would have had a police check with that as well. According to Mr Jason
Purugganan’s resume he commenced his teaching in Australia May 2003 at the Elliott
Community Education Centre. On my office conducting a search with the Teachers
Registration Board Mr Jason Purugganan’s registration was confirmed and listed as expiring
in 31 December 2011.

Prior to the commencement of the NSCP, services were being provided to some of the
schools®> by Mr Stuart McMillan and Ms Roslyn McMillan. A fact that is not in dispute by any
of the parties. Chaplaincy services were being provided to:

1. Taminmin High School in 2004 onwards where Mr Stuart McMillan initially provided
an ad hoc service with respect to critical incident, additional support, some suicides
and things that had happened. The Principal at the time invited the chaplains to have
a more formal relationship and so From the third term of 2004 Mr Stuart McMillan
was in that school two days a week on a voluntary basis with the title of Pastoral Care
Worker and from the fourth term Ms Roslyn McMillan joined the school.*® The
chaplains then formed part of the wellbeing team within Taminmin High School.

2. Humpty Doo was critical incidents, the chaplains were involved in working with that
school over those critical incidents, they had several deaths but two that were quite
close together. And had been a long ongoing relationship with that school. And | think
it was 2000 and, in 2006 Mr Stuart McMillan did a day a week in Humpty Doo
voluntarily and then in 2007 it went to two days a week voluntary until the chaplaincy
program started.

** Confirmed by Mr Jason Purugganan’s 2007 notes, verified as true by Mr Stuart McMillan.

> The only school within the scope of the investigation not utilising the chaplaincy services prior to the NSCP
was Bees Creek Primary School.

*® Details from interview conducted by my office with Mr Stuart McMillan.
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3. Berry Springs Primary School in 2004 onwards where Ms Roslyn McMillan conducted
the Kids Club®’

4. Girraween Primary School in 2004 onwards where Ms Roslyn McMillan conducted
the Kids Club®.

Ms Roslyn McMillan was a registered teacher® and on my office conducting a search of the
teacher register Ms Roslyn McMillan’s registration was listed to expire 31 December 2010. In
an interview with my office, Ms Roslyn McMillan revealed she commenced teaching in 1986
and was required to obtain a police clearance at that point for her initial registration.
However between 1986 and 2007 Ms Roslyn McMillan believed she had not obtained any
further police clearances.

Mr Stuart McMillan told my Investigation Officer that he had obtained a police clearance
check in either late 2004 or early 2005.

Mr AC, Principal Taminmin High School told my office he commenced as Principal in January
2006 and confirmed the chaplains commenced providing services to the school prior to this.
He said | assumed like all other members of staff that they had been checked. Certainly |
made procedures in place for checking all new staff ....criminal history checks. Now we have a
requirement to make sure we get them checked each year, but we didn’t back then. At the
time of Mr AC’s commencement in 2006 there were no legislative requirements for people
working with children to undertake police clearances other than under the Teachers
Registration Act.*® In examining all policies listed on the DET website*! as at 9 February
2010, there were no specific policies relating to police clearances. | found this quite
disturbing given the nature of the Department. However DET in response to the draft
investigation report stated:

The department submits that Police Checks were introduced in 1997 and that the
department has since that time always maintained a policy on that matter,
although the document has been published in a variety of forms — including content
in HR manuals and policy documents. The current document... notes the Effective
Date of that version as August 2008, indicates it was reviewed on 1 April 2009 and
that the next review date was 1 January 2010. It is possible the policy could have
been taken down for review at the precise time when the office of the Ombudsman
conducted its search on the existence of such policy.

However, with respect to the chaplains there was a requirement under the Guidelines for
Chaplaincies in Northern Territory Government Schools dated November 2004. DET's
response to the draft report however claimed that the 2004 guidelines were withdrawn. No
date was provided of that withdrawal. This is discussed further under 12.1.2 of this report.

Mr AC confirmed his awareness of the Memorandum of Understanding signed in December
2005, expiring 31 December 2006, which was premised on the Guidelines for Chaplaincies in

*” Information provided by Ms Ros McMillan during her interview with my office.

*® Information provided by Ms Ros McMillan during her interview with my office.

9 Supporting documentation provided by Ms Ros McMillan.

1t should be noted that since 2006 the Care and Protection of Children Act 2009 has been enacted.

41 .. ..
http://www.det.nt.gov.au/about-us/policies/all-policies
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Northern Territory Government Schools 2004*. The Memorandum of Understanding was the
contractual arrangement between Taminmin High School, Local Chaplaincy Committee and
the Living Waters Uniting Church setting out the terms and conditions of the chaplaincy
services. It acknowledged and pledged to abide by the 2004 Guidelines. The Guidelines,
paragraph 5.3 stipulated The selected Chaplain must undergo a Northern Territory Police
Criminal History check...prior to final appointment being confirmed.

As part of the investigation Ms FH, Principal Humpty Doo Primary School was interviewed.
She said that prior to the NSCP commencing she was using Mr Stuart McMillan for pastoral
care for the students. She said It was under an agreement that, because we’re a primary
school we don’t have the same person, we don’t have home ligison, we don’t have a
counsellor, we don’t have a school nurse and the Taminmin wellbeing team comprised all
those people and the chaplain, and the primary schools access it through the secondary
school so that happens in all the different areas®. The Agreement referred to by Ms FH was
the Taminmin High School Memorandum of Understanding, which was subtitled Chaplaincy
Service of Taminmin High School.

12.1.2 Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)/2004 Guidelines for Chaplaincies in
Northern Territory Government Schools

Prior to the commencement of the NSCP these two documents, MOU and 2004 Guidelines
were the legal and policy framework for the provision of chaplaincy services.

The Memorandum of Understanding was a template included in the Guidelines for
Chaplaincies in Northern Territory Government Schools November 2004 by DET. The
Memorandum of Understanding contained the following sections:

® Responsibilities of the Local Chaplaincy Committee
® Responsibilities of the Principal

e Responsibilities of the Employing Agency

e Performance Appraisal, and

e Resolution of Disputes.

The definitions as referred in the MOU were found in the Guidelines for Chaplaincies in
Northern Territory Government Schools as follows:

2.2 Local Chaplaincy Committee
Refers to the body approved by the School Council, and established in conjunction with
Christian Churches and societies recognised by the NTCC* concerned to support a
Chaplain in that school.

2.3 Employing Agency
Refers to the organisation, distinct from the Local Chaplaincy Committee, with whom the
Chaplain’s contract of employment is made. This will normally be a local church or

* The Agreement was effective 9 December 2005 and signed by Mr Kim Rowe, Principal of Taminmin High
School at the time; Mr Robbo Robinson, Chairperson of the Local Chaplaincy Committee; and Mr John
Derrington, Chairperson Living Waters Uniting Church.

* Interview conducted by my office with Ms FH on 17 August 2009.

* Northern Territory Council of Churches.
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denomination or para-church organisation that has been approved by the NTCC to act in
this capacity.

The responsibilities listed in the Memorandum of Understanding relating to the Principal
included:

~

ensuring the school community is represented on the LCC*
2. the allocation of working space and support facilities for use by the Chaplain

3. ensuring the LCC is aware of relevant and current Department of Employment,
Education and Training policies and how they relate to the operation of the Chaplaincy
Program in the school

4. development of procedures for access to the Chaplain by students, teachers, parents
and other relevant persons

5. communicating procedures for the referral to other people and agencies, both within
and outside the school

6. oversight the general functioning of the Chaplain in the school and especially in
matters relating to school administration and procedures, and

7. notwithstanding compliance with all appropriate legislation, referral of any disciplinary
issues to the LCC.

The only school to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding was Taminmin High School,
which was effective from 9 December 2005 and concluded 31 December 2006. Mr AC,
Principal Taminmin High School was aware of the Memorandum of Understanding when he
commenced as Principal around January 2006. During his interview with my office, Mr AC
was asked about the gap between the Memorandum of Understanding ending December
2006 and the NSCP commencing in May 2008. Mr AC explained that there was no additional
instrument to cover the gap, it was implied that the Memorandum of Understanding would
continue after its expiry date. Continuation had not been discussed with the chaplains. The
MOU'’s last sentence on the first page states A decision to continue the chaplaincy service
into the following year will be made on or before the 30 November 2006. As is listed above
part of the responsibilities of the Principal within the Memorandum of Understanding
extended to oversight the general functioning of the Chaplain in the school and especially
in matters relating to school administration and procedures. There was clearly a failure to
comply with the MOU but | do not consider it significant as all parties continued to act as if
the agreement was still on foot.

Although there was only one school to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding with
respect to chaplaincy services prior to the NSCP, there were three other schools*® utilising
the services of the chaplains. Ms Roslyn McMillan told my Investigation Officer that she had
been providing services to Berry Springs Primary School and Girraween Primary School since
2004. These two schools offered a Kids Club during lunch times. The services provided within
these clubs will be discussed further under Issue 4 Services provided by the Chaplain/s.

Mr Stuart McMillan told my Investigation Officer he had provided services to Humpty Doo
Primary School prior to the commencement of the NSCP. Ms FH, Principal Humpty Doo
Primary School said she believed she was accessing the chaplain through the Taminmin High

** Local Chaplaincy Committee.
a Humpty Doo Primary School, Berry Springs Primary School and Girraween Primary School.
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School Wellbeing Team therefore assuming the respective Agreement®’ applied. Ms FH said
that in 2005 the Taminmin High School Principal introduced Mr Stuart McMillan as part of
the wellbeing team. Mr Stuart McMillan however said there was no MOU or sign off or
anything in terms of Humpty Doo; it was just an agreed service. He said that he provided a
chaplaincy service to Humpty Doo Primary School one day per week in 2006 and two days
per week in 2007. Ms FH confirmed pastoral care, which extended to one-on-one sessions
with the students and critical incidents assistance, was provided prior to the NSCP.

Section 4 of the Guidelines is titled Establishing Chaplaincy Services in a School. The
requirements for establishing such a service are clearly set out and include:

® Measuring Local Support
® Financial Support
® Forming a Local Chaplaincy Committee

® Management within a School

Paragraph 4.3.2 emphasises that The Principal, however, is ultimately responsible for all
services™ operating within the school. Section 5 of the Guidelines outlines the steps for
Appointing a Chaplain, which requires the position to be advertised.

In view of Mr Stuart McMillan’s comments above, it was just an agreed service, | find it
unsatisfactory that a School Principal could allow a service to commence within her school
and promote it to parents, when there was no administrative documentation outlining the
rights and obligations of the chaplains, school, parents or students. The failure to advertise
the service and allow other pastors or chaplains to express an interest was also poor
practice and a breach of the DET Guidelines as well as contrary to procurement processes
for Northern Territory government agencies.

Ms SD, Principal Berry Springs Primary School and Ms MB, Principal Girraween Primary
School during their interview with my office confirmed they did not have a Memorandum of
Understanding in place for Ms Roslyn McMillan’s chaplaincy services. The services provided
by Ms Roslyn McMillan prior to the NSCP appeared to be confined to the Kids Club lunch
time activities as a form of religious instruction. Both clubs were developed through the
historical religious instruction provided to the schools under section 73 of the Education Act.
The club consisted of religious type activities™® provided within a classroom setting during
the lunch time session. Both Principals’ confirmed there were no one-on-one sessions
between the chaplain and students prior to the commencement of the NSCP.

The response provided to the draft investigation report by DET highlighted Mr Gerry
Greene claiming, during his interview with my office, that the Guidelines for Chaplaincies in
Northern Territory Government Schools November 2004 had been withdrawn due to their
potentially discriminatory nature. The transcript of Mr Gerry Greene’s interview was
checked. He had said he was unsure which document had been withdrawn at the time and
was unable to provide a date of withdrawal, either at interview or in response to the draft
investigation report. His exact words were:

* Memorandum of Understanding.

*® Prior to the commencement of Mr AC, current Principal Taminmin High School.
9 Chaplaincy services.

*% At the time of interview was Acting Director Legal Services, DET
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...and in fact | think the policy was subsequently withdrawn on the basis of our
advice, so | don’t know whether this is that document or whether it’s something
else.”

If the 2004 Guidelines were withdrawn, this would mean there were no guidelines in place
from the time of withdrawal to the commencement of the NSCP. From when the 2004
guidelines were withdrawn highly sensitive information being imparted to the chaplains and
their conduct would not have been subject to any guidelines, standards or accountability
particularly so as the chaplains were not employees of the Northern Territory Government.

12.1.3 Conflict of interest/Duty of Care

The Funding Agreement between the Commonwealth and the chaplaincy providers
stipulates under Clause 17, if during the term of the Agreement, a conflict arises, or is likely
to arise the chaplaincy provider must:

¢ |mmediately notify the Commonwealth in writing of that conflict;

e Make full disclosure to the Commonwealth of all relevant information relating to
that conflict; and

e Provide the Commonwealth with steps or proposed steps taken or to be taken to
resolve or otherwise deal with the conflict.

Clause 26. Interpretation of the Funding Agreement defined ‘conflict’ as a conflict of interest,
or risk of a conflict of interest, or an apparent conflict of interest arising through You
(chaplaincy service provider) engaging in any activity or obtaining any interest that is likely
to interfere with or restrict You in providing the Project to Us fairly and independently.
Project was further defined as that listed under Item C of Schedule 1, which included details
of services to be provided to students within the recipient schools.>?

Following concerns raised by parents from the various schools about a perceived conflict of
interest due to the school chaplains, Stuart and Roslyn McMillan:

e accommodating a registered paedophile within close proximity of the schools at which
the chaplains provided a service to the students; and

e operating a rehabilitation program for paedophiles within close proximity of the schools
at which the chaplains provided a service to the students;

the following questions were considered:

1. Was there a conflict of interest in the school chaplains’ alleged external activities and
the provision of a service to the schools?

> Quote from Mr Gerry Greene at interview with my office during investigation.

> The DET response to the draft investigation suggested that the conflict of interest referred in clause 26 of the
Funding Agreement relates only to a commercial conflict of interest, which interferes with the provision of
services fairly and independently. | reject this notion as it is clearly stated that the conflict relates to any
activity...that is likely to interfere with...the provision of the project (services). Although, it should be noted that
the DET response did indicate that the department took the view that the two roles of chaplaincy provider to
the schools and paedophile rehabilitator were inconsistent and incompatible and communicated to chaplains as
soon as the department became aware of the issue...
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2. Was there a breach in duty of care by the school chaplains, the School Principals or DET?
Duty of care with respect to services provided within the chaplaincy service has been
considered under Issue 4 Services provided by the chaplain/s.

It has been established through several witnesses that when they asked Ms Roslyn McMillan
and/or Mr Stuart McMillan individually or in the parental group meeting about the
paedophile, they were met with denials. It was understandable that for confidentiality
reasons the McMillan’s may have been reluctant to reveal any details, particularly as at the
time there were no legislative or regulatory requirements to make such disclosures about
paedophiles to the community.

In order to decide if the two chaplains had a conflict of interest or a risk compromising their
duty of care to children at the schools a close analysis of all the circumstances is required.

12.1.3.1 Information about person on the Sex Offender Register

For the purposes of this report, | will refer to the convicted paedophile as Mr MN. The
transcripts for the most recent matter against Mr MN heard before the Supreme Court>® in
2004 were considered. During that hearing it was established that Mr MN had offended
against children in the 1970’s and 1980’s and was later convicted of carnal knowledge and
11 counts of indecent assault in 1992. In 1991 Mr MN pleaded guilty to four counts of
indecent assault and in 2004 pleaded guilty to five counts of sexual misconduct with children
between 2003 and 2004.

Mr MN was under the care of a psychiatrist from around 1990 to the middle of 1998. This
psychiatrist (Dr G) diagnosed Mr MN as suffering from heterosexual paedophilia, which was
confirmed by another psychiatrist (Dr W). Justice Riley during the hearing stated:

The information available to me is that the condition from which you suffer is
something with which you have to live and is not capable of being cured. The
condition has to be managed in a way that prevents you from acting upon the
impulses that you experience. You have sought to do that with some success over a
lengthy period of time. Unfortunately, for all concerned, you lapsed. Justice Riley
went on to summarise Mr MN’s consultation with the psychiatrist (Dr W) You told
him you had been battling thoughts for the whole of your life and that you had
adopted various strategies to avoid being alone with children.

It was recognised by Justice Riley that due to certain personal issues encountered by Mr MN
his vigilance failed him and he commenced re-offending in 2003. It was acknowledged by Dr
W during the hearing that paedophiles are notorious recidivists"*; however Mr MN displayed
a high level of motivation to rehabilitate. Although, it was further acknowledged that this
same level of motivation was displayed back in the 1990’s, prior to re-offending. The
Clinical Psychologist stated during the hearing that he would be implementing a strategy to
reduce the risk of re-offending although he observed that relapse prevention was a life-long
and continuous task of vigilance for Mr MN.

Evidence provided by Mr MN’s wife suggested the two of them would obtain employment
in situations where children are not involved. Justice Riley concluded to Mr MN:

The consequences of your offending for your victims are likely to be serious and
ongoing. They are certainly unpredictable. It is necessary that the courts do what

>* Of the Northern Territory, 21 October 2004 before Justice Riley.
> Repeat offenders.
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they can to protect children from people such as yourself and to deter both you
and people like you from offending in this way.

Evidence obtained from ANCOR records and through the admission of Ms Roslyn McMillan
confirmed that Mr MN was accommodated at the Meeting Place and worked there as a
volunteer caretaker with a key to each of the rooms and buildings>>. The Meeting Place is a
refuge in Humpty Doo for persons in need, including families with children. This particular
fact is concerning, however is outside of my jurisdiction and will not be considered further in
this report other than to mention that the enactment of the Care and Protection of Children
Act now prohibits employment>® of convicted paedophiles within refuges.

In order to assess the risk to the students the close proximity of the Meeting Place to
Humpty Doo Primary School, Taminmin High School and the after school activities
undertaken by these students should be considered. Below is a map displaying the Meeting
Place, showing the schools within a short walking distance.

aminmin High School
—and library

|
|

ISt Francis of Assisi
| Primary School

200 m

Accepting the evidence in the court transcripts dated 21 October 2004 before Justice Riley
and seeing the close proximity of where Mr MN was living, the risk to the students and risk
of a relapse on impulse to Mr MN were evident.

In a letter dated 22 November 2007 to Complainant B from Mr Chris Sheedy,”’ he said that
the department was:

working in close conjunction with the Northern Territory Department of Education,
the Principal of Humpty Doo Primary School and other schools in the region to
address the issues Complainant B had raised. The Northern Territory Department of
Education, the Principal of Humpty Doo Primary School and the School Council are
satisfied that the chaplain at Humpty Doo has ended his church based counselling
relationship with the convicted paedophile. The chaplain has made a number of

>> As advised by Ms Ros McMillan during her interview with my office.
*® Employment includes engagement in a volunteer capacity sections 185(2)(e), 185(5)(a)(iii) and 189(1).
>’ South Australia State Manager, Department of Education, Science and Training (now known as the DEEWR).
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undertakings to assure the broader school community that this association has
ended.

It can be implied from Mr Chris Sheedy’s correspondence that a continued ‘church based
counselling relationship with the convicted paedophile’ was incompatible with the role of
school chaplain. On the 17 October 2007 Mr Stuart McMillan met with many parents to
discuss their concerns relating to the convicted paedophile. Several of the witnesses that
attended that meeting reported that Mr Stuart McMillan represented to the parents his
intended future conduct. Witness E said that at the meeting Mr McMillan attempted to
convince parents that Mr MN was not a risk to their children. Mr Stuart McMillan did not
acknowledge any incompatibility in service and said:

Firstly, professional people, and I’m a professional person, see a range of people in
their professions, so if you’re a doctor or a nurse or a psychologist or a Minister of
Religion you see a range of people in your profession, you see both the sex
offenders and sadly those who have suffered at the hands of the sex offenders.
That does not mean that you are a sex offender or that you favour sex offenders
over somebody else. As | have already said our whole process was about, this
person was living in our community, how do we maintain the safest possible
community we can for our children...we are simply offering services to different
people...

Mr Stuart McMillan rejected the idea that because he was perceived as a safe person by the
students, and seen to associate and approve of a paedophile, younger students may
perceive the paedophile as a safe person by association. When asked® whether he would
do the same for another convicted paedophile he responded:

The experience says to me that | wouldn’t do it in the manner in which it was done
this time... | would support a person who came to our church, who demonstrated
that they wanted to turn their life around, | would support them in the church.

Parents alleged that the chaplains were running a rehabilitation program for sex offenders.
This was denied by Mr Stuart McMillan during his interview with my office®. In reviewing Mr
McMillan’s 2007 work diary there were several entries relating to SOSNT (Sex Offender
Support NT). In reviewing these entries (Refer to Issue 3 for Table with details of entries)
references to business name registration, set up of email account and placing details on an
SOS file along with regular entries at the Meeting Place strongly support the initial steps
being taken to set up an SOSNT program. Given Mr Stuart McMillan’s failure to disclose this
information to my office® it is unlikely these details would have been volunteered under
Clause 17 of the NSCP Funding Agreement.

Mr Chris Sheedysl, through his correspondence, appeared to be left with the impression that
the school chaplains’ involvement with sex offenders was isolated to Mr MN. Mr Stuart
McMillan’s work diary further identified that Complainant B raised SOSNT as a conflict of
interest, which would have obligated him to disclose these details under clause 17 as it was a

*% Interview conducted by my office on 23 July 2009.

> Mr Stuart McMillan: I'm absolutely sick of that question because the whole line of questioning goes to the
thought that we were establishing services and living places for paedophiles in that area. Never was ever going
to be anything like that.

% As during his interview with my office he felt that any services provided outside of the schools were not
relevant to our investigation.

® State Manager, South Australia, Australian Government DEEWR.
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perceived conflict by a parent. | will be referring the question of disclosure by Mr Stuart
McMillan, to DEEWR and to the Commonwealth Ombudsman as those matters are outside
the jurisdiction of the Northern Territory Ombudsman.

What action was taken by chaplains, DET and the Principals to minimise any risk?

Under the NSCP Funding Agreement clause 22 the Funding Recipient/Service Provider is
compelled to comply with the requirements of the Northern Territory. The DET Code of
Conduct for Schools extends to individuals visiting the school for a variety of purposes. The
policy requires that all persons on school premises comply with the school’s code of
conduct. Duty of care is defined within this policy as the obligation to do everything
reasonably practicable to protect others from foreseeable harm.

Ms Roslyn McMillan was asked if she had taken any steps to establish whether there were
any restrictions placed on Mr MN. She said that Stuart McMillan had either checked with
the police or the legislation. Ms McMillan said that the Police were aware that Mr MN was
being accommodated at the Meeting Place; this was confirmed by my office through the
ANCOR records. There were, however, no supporting ANCOR documents evident with
respect to declaring the nature of the residence ie. refuge to families with children in close
proximity to schools. However this was a matter for the police to consider and will not be
discussed further in this report. During her interview with my office Ms Roslyn McMillan said
that in a discussion®” with Witness C:

| listened, like we sat together for nearly an hour probably and ... I did explain the
safeguards we’d put in place to keep people safe and in fact it was much safer,
him there under supervision than being her next door neighbour, you know, just out
in the community.

Ms Roslyn McMillan, confirmed by Mr Stuart McMillan, further provided details of the Good
Life Model in which the principles were used to assist Mr MN:

The Good Life Model is a theory that comes out of | think Canada or US and it
basically says that there’s about half a dozen different activities or safeguards that
need to be in place to point a sex offender in the right direction towards a good life
and one of them is meaningful employment, meaningful relationships with other
adults ...

In reviewing the Statutory Declaration signed by Mr Stuart McMillan on 19 March 2008 and
provided to Mr Roger Newman for the DET investigation, Mr McMillan stated he had put
into place duty of care measures as he recognised a responsibility to his congregation and
the broader community. As a result:

e  Mr MN spoke to the elder who | (Mr Stuart McMillan) had given the responsibility to be
close to him...

e | (Mr Stuart McMillan) then met with Mr MN and his wife and....I enquired if he was
following the orders made by the Department of Justice, which he ensured...that he was.

e | (Mr Stuart McMillan) also relied upon evidence such as receipts for his reporting
conditions to NT Police. During his interview with my office Mr Stuart McMillan
confirmed he was aware of the legislation In terms of the register, the paedophile

®2 The discussion took place to assist in resolving Witness C’s concerns.
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register and the necessary reporting etc. he was obligated to be involved with..... | saw
some of the ANCOR receipts...

e To the best of my (Mr Stuart McMillan’s) ability | ensured Mr MN had no contact with
children anywhere and he certainly did not have any contact with children whilst
attending my church.

Mr Stuart McMillan stated in the Statutory Declaration, prior to making a decision about Mr
MN, he had made enquiries with the relevant authorities (Police and Correctional Services)
to ensure that it was acceptable and an appropriate location and we were ensured that this
was acceptable. Contact details for the ANCOR Detective Sergeant were noted in Mr Stuart
McMillan’s 2007 Work Diary on 25 January. However during his interview with my office Mr
Stuart McMillan revealed that there was:

... dispute between various parties as to the conditions for Mr MN and I’'m not
going to engage in conversations or answering questions that go to a dispute
between ANCOR and supervising authorities and the individual in terms of court
implied orders etc. and some of the stuff that you are asking about now ... were the
subject of those disputes at that time. In other words, initially there was no
difficulty in where Mr MN was residing. Subsequently there was some things
referred to that suggested he shouldn’t be residing there and there was a dispute
about what the particular orders were...

Each of the Principals for the five schools within the scope of this investigation were asked
about concerns brought to them by parents relating to the convicted paedophile. All five
Principals said they were aware of the situation.

Ms FH, Principal Humpty Doo Primary School was made aware of Complainant A’s concerns
in late 2007. Subsequently there were telephone conferences with the rural schools, which
were later followed by a meeting in the Mitchell Centre, Darwin City. Ms FH, however, made
it very clear to my office that she believed:

1. the school chaplaincy service, and

2. the service provided by the school chaplains to the convicted paedophile and his wife
within close proximity to her school

were unrelated and were not incompatible.

Mr Stuart McMillan’s student notes revealed that he was told by Ms RN®® that a mother’s
partner abused/raped other guy... The child of the mother mentioned was receiving pastoral
care from Mr Stuart McMillan. My concern becomes evident when considering why Ms RN
was making comment at all about a student’s family member. One could only reasonably
conclude that Mr Stuart McMillan discussed the Humpty Doo Primary School student and/or
their matter/family with the convicted paedophile’s wife. As the NSCP guidelines were not
applicable at the time it could not be considered to be a breach of the NSCP Code of Conduct
for the chaplains.

Ms SD, Principal Berry Springs Primary School told my office that she was under the
impression that a convicted paedophile and his wife needed assistance and were under a
program. When Ms SD was first told about Mr MN she did not realise the close proximity of

® Wife of convicted paedophile Mr MN.
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his accommodation to the schools. Ms SD said that when she found out the convicted
paedophile was being housed at the Meeting Place she raised her concerns directly with the
General Manager PARCS, Ms SM. A meeting at the Mitchell Centre then took place on 19
October 2007. Ms SD was told by her Assistant Principal that the chaplains were asked to
remove the paedophile from the Meeting Place if they were going to continue the
chaplaincy programme. As Ms SD was interstate her Assistant Principal, Ms HB attended the
meeting on her behalf. Present at the meeting were Mr RW®*, Ms SM, the respective School
Principals and Mr Stuart McMillan. There were no minutes of this meeting to confirm what
occurred at it. Ms SD said she had also spoken with Ms Roslyn McMillan and suggested that
the church move the convicted paedophile away from close proximity to the children. Ms SD
also said DET took the position that ... if they were involved in the chaplaincy program that
they couldn’t be involved in any paedophile program.

Ms MB, Principal Girraween Primary School said that on becoming aware of parental
concerns she spoke with Ms Roslyn McMillan about the convicted paedophile. She said that
a high number of meetings were held by the Principals to discuss the matter. Ms MB could
not recall whether there were any collective decisions made.

Mr AC, Principal Taminmin High School said that he became aware of parental concerns in
relation to the convicted paedophile around September 2007. As a result he made some
enquiries of the then Sergeant of Humpty Doo Police Station, who reassured Mr AC that
there were no breaches of any law. Mr AC recalled attending the meeting held in the
Mitchell Centre. He said of it:

And | think | indicated at that meeting that there was significant concern about this
situation and my intention was to talk to Stuart and Ros about that, which | did. |
said to Stuart and Ros, this situation is adversely affecting our operations unless
we’re in a situation where this would cease we’d have to reconsider whether we
continue with the service... My concerns were that there was a community belief that
there was a risk to young children and while | believed there was probably less risk to
the Taminmin kids, | certainly believed with the numbers of school children in the
area there was a strong perception...

Mr JT, Principal Bees Creek Primary School said he did not recall attending any meetings to
specifically deal with the parental concerns around the convicted paedophile. He did attend
meetings with Principals where newspaper reports of the convicted paedophile were
discussed. Mr JT’s school was the only school out of the five rural schools not to have the
chaplaincy service prior to the NSCP, which commenced in October 2007.

During an interview with my office Mr RW, Director of Policy, Schools Operations and
Strategy at the time said:

During the time that | was in there.. it’s a while ago now but I'd say there’s
probably about four or five phone calls that | had from people in the rural area
about an incident related to someone who was to be involved in the chaplaincy
program... They were parents of schools and one was a Humpty Doo parent, one
was a Berry Springs parent. There was a third parent but I’'m not sure whether they
were Bees Creek but it was in the rural area. And they were concerned that a
person who had been convicted as a paedophile had actually, was in a safe house
and been located in the Humpty Doo precinct in a church safe house within the

* Director of Policy, Schools Operations and Strategy at the time.
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Humpty Doo precinct and their concern was around the close association to the
schools... So one of the actions that | worked on was to liaise with the Principals
about that complaint and then also liaise with the chaplains about the complaint
and through that process they actually moved that person from that location... |
also had conversations with the complainants... So | was actually following through
a process that the department has...

Mr Stuart McMillan’s school diary notes confirmed the meeting held at the Mitchell Centre
on 19 October 2007 and further recorded Advised moving by end of weekend.

The Principals and DET took sufficient reasonable steps/action to address the specific
concerns of the parents relating to the convicted paedophile. It was unfortunate that the
schools and DET failed to tell the parents that their concerns were being addressed and of
the outcome.

The incident involving the chaplains allowing Mr MN to live in close proximity to schools and
facilities which young children frequented highlights what | see as a flaw in the framework of
the NSCP. Neither DET nor the schools are a party to the agreement or contractual
arrangement between the chaplains and DEEWR. The agreement that determines the duties
of the chaplains is an agreement with DEEWR, a Commonwealth agency. DEEWR funds the
chaplains or in this case the Uniting Church which employs the chaplains. The Funding
Agreement between DEEWR and the Uniting Church includes clause 22 Compliance with
Laws and Our Policies, which requires compliance with all relevant statutes, regulations, by-
laws and requirements of the Northern Territory. However any perceived breaches by the
chaplains must be reported to DEEWR for consideration and action. In my view DET ought to
be a party to the agreement with DEEWR and the chaplains so that the chaplains are
answerable to DET and the schools and amenable to direction.

The quandary over the creation and storage of the records of one-on-one sessions also
demonstrates the need for DET to be a party to the NSCP agreement.

A further allegation lodged by parents related to sightings of Mr MN entering the school and
school library premises with Mr Stuart McMillan. When Mr Stuart McMillan was asked
during an interview with my office he responded:

... | was not, have never been seen with Mr MN outside of the people that go to our
church in the school situation, in the community situation. That just didn’t happen,
that was, you know, it’s been, that’s a total fabrication. And the reason | can say that
is because every time a person has made that accusation the person that they have
described, in fact one of the persons that they began to vilify was not Mr MN but
simply because they’d seen this person with me and they were male they assumed
something. Now | know a person who was vilified so much that he got called in by his
boss to ask if he had made a false declaration on his employment application. And
that person was not Mr MN so I’'m not just making that up either I’'m absolutely
aware of that.

When Ms Roslyn McMillan was asked about Mr MN entering onto any of the school grounds
she responded No, | could not see that happening... He really didn’t want to re-offend and he
was doing everything in his power to have the good life and follow the guiding principles in
that. We know that he was going for regular supervision with a psychiatrist, psychologist, I'm
not sure... He was reporting to police, he had meaningful relationships, he was under the
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supervision of one of our elders, part of that home group. He had meaningful work in terms
of caretaking, gardening, repairing, that sort of thing.

When asked about the supervision of Mr MN whilst at the Meeting Place, Ms Roslyn
McMillan replied:

His wife was the best supervisor of all times, there’s no way she wanted him to re-
offend either.

This belief was naive in the extreme given the number of times Mr MN re-offended whilst
with his wife and the fact that Mr MN’s wife did not accompany him all the time. There was
insufficient evidence however to support the allegation of Mr MN being brought to and/or
entering school grounds. It is quite possible that parents were mistaken about the identity of
the man they thought was Mr MN.

12.1.4 Student Records
12.1.4.1 Retention of student information

The DET Policy on Student Records — Access and Maintenance prescribes what information
should be kept on student records. The policy indicates that it was last updated in February
2005 and therefore would have been applicable from at least that time.

Retention of student information

Student Record Folders (SRF) contain the following essential items that are to be maintained
for all students in NT schools:

° personal details, including age and gender
. student UPN ...

° examination and test results

. reports on student progress

. guidance officers’ reports

. school counsellors’ reports

. correspondence to/from parents

. accident reports

. enrolment forms

. student update forms

. absence notes

. records of suspension

. disciplinary records

. religious instruction forms

. transfer notes

° permissions forms, e.g. internet, photos
° medication details if applicable.
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Ms FH when interviewed about any records or notes routinely kept on children that were
seen on a one-on-one basis by the chaplain/pastor she said that Mr Stuart McMillan has
them in his diary. There was a lot of discussion about that with DEEWR about whether these
should be kept, | mean, for the confidentiality and all that kind of stuff, but he keeps diary
notes of it.

Mr AC® said during his interview with my office:

we don’t have a specific methodology that they notate every kid they’ve seen and
provide it to me on a weekly basis and things. Nor do we with any of our other
wellbeing team.

It should be noted that Ms RM® does not use the chaplaincy service for one-on-one sessions
in the Senior School and so the issue of records did not extend to the Senior School. Ms
MM® confirmed that records for one-on-one sessions with the chaplains were not
maintained by the Middle School.

Mr JT®®, Ms SD®® and Ms MB’° also identified during their interviews with my office they do
not keep notes of one-on-one sessions on their student files; these are kept by the
respective chaplains.

The argument around confidentiality for not maintaining one-on-one session notes on a
student’s file was considered further. The policy on Student Records lists guidance officers’
reports and school counsellors’ reports as compulsory items to be maintained within a
student record. To accept the argument of confidentiality would be providing the chaplains
with a more privileged position than a Guidance Officer or School Counsellor.

The chaplaincy service is subject to the Privacy Act as confirmed in the NSCP Guidelines
clause 5.9. | do not consider there is any principle within the Privacy Act that prevented the
chaplains from recording information relating to the one-on-one sessions. The principles did
in fact require the information collected to be stored and secured. The issue that arose in
considering the Privacy Act related to the ‘record keeper'. The record keeper is defined as
the agency or person who maintains the records with respect to the personal information. In
seeking to establish who is eligible to be a record keeper the Privacy Act was quite
prescriptive and would extend to the NSCP funding recipient. However as the NSCP funding
recipient was not DET or the Northern Territory Government they were not recognised by
the Act as being eligible to be the record keeper. This on the face of it essentially created an
anomaly as the respective schools did not appear eligible to maintain the personal
information collected through the chaplaincy service about their own students. However,
one is required to consider section 6A(2) of the Privacy Act:

6A (2) An act or practice does not breach a National Privacy Principle if:
(a) the act is done, or the practice is engaged in:

& Principal, Taminmin High School

% Assistant Principal, Senior School Taminmin High School
®7 Assistant Principal, Middle School Taminmin High School
68 Principal, Bees Creek Primary School

69 Principal, Berry Springs Primary School

7 Principal, Girraween Primary School
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(i) by an organisation that is a contracted service provider for a
Commonwealth contract (whether or not the organisation is a party
to the contract); and

(ii) for the purposes of meeting (directly or indirectly) an obligation
under the contract; and

(b) the act or practice is authorised by a provision of the contract that is inconsistent
with the Principle.

Clause 13 of the NSCP Funding Agreement (contract) authorised acts to be done in
compliance with requirements under the respective Funding Agreement. In examining the
NSCP Funding Agreement (contract) Clause 22.1(a) stipulated the funding recipient (the
chaplaincy) must comply with all relevant statutes, regulations, by-laws and requirements of
the Northern Territory. As DET is part of the Northern Territory Government and has a Policy
on Student Records the chaplains and schools should be compliant with this policy. In
turning to the policy the listed compulsory items did not specifically state Chaplaincy
records/reports. However as Student Progress Reports, Guidance Officer Reports and School
Counsellor Reports are compulsory items to be maintained on a student’s record | believe
the intention of the policy would have extended to Chaplaincy records/reports for one-on-
one sessions. It is to this end that | consider the failure to maintain this student information
on the student records is a breach of the Funding Agreement by the funding recipient (the
chaplains) and contrary to the DET policy on student records.

Since the commencement of this investigation DET has developed and amended a Policy on
Chaplaincy Services in Schools the Effective Date being August 2009. It was pleasing to see
that an attempt had been made by the Department to acknowledge the school’s record-
keeping requirements in relation to the provision of one-on-one services by the chaplaincy
service. | do not believe this goes far enough; the school’s record-keeping requirements
should be prescriptive to avoid any further possibility of non-compliance.

It is asserted by the DET response to the draft investigation report that as clause 13 of the
funding agreement requires compliance with the IPPs in the Privacy Act ‘... it may be
unlawful for the employee of the funding recipient (a chaplain) to provide information to the
department’ . This assertion ignores the fact that the second part of clause 13 acknowledges
sub-section 6A(2) as is discussed within this report. As a matter of good administration
regardless of the legal interpretation of the Privacy Act it is undesirable for personal
information about students obtained at school for a service organised by the school to have
such records kept secret from the school. Unless chaplain records are provided to the school
parents have no avenue to obtain them under the Information Act. This defect and the
doubt DET has on the issue could be eliminated if DET was also a party to the agreement
with DEEWR.

In an email dated 29 August 2008 from schoolschaplaincy@deewr.gov.au DEEWR stated:

Under the NSCP the School Principal... must take all reasonable steps to ensure
chaplains comply with the Code of Conduct.

If the School Principal does not have access to the chaplain records of one-on-one sessions
the School Principal cannot fulfil this obligation. If either DET or the School Principal is not a
party to the contract with DEEWR there is no pathway for DEEWR to monitor or enforce
compliance with an obligation of the School Principal.
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12.1.4.2 Access to student information

As was discussed under the previous section Retention of Student Information the chaplains
and Principals are required to comply with any Northern Territory requirements in relation
to accessing student information. DET Policy on Student Records — Access and Maintenance
applicable since at least February 2005 states Principals should exercise judgement in the
release of student information to parents and when in doubt should consult with senior
officers of the Department.... In addition to this, section 17 of the Information Act’* requires:

(1) A public sector organisation that receives an application [to access information]
must deal with the application as promptly and efficiently, and as fairly and
openly, as is reasonably possible.

and

(3) If an application is about:
(a) access to personal information about the applicant or another person;

...the public sector organisation must deal with the application in a
manner that is consistent with the IPPs or a code of practice, as the case
requires.

Access to student information by parents

The request for information lodged by complainant C regarding her son’s sessions with Mr
Stuart McMillan was examined. The above policy and legislative requirements were
reviewed in addition to the actions taken by the Principal and DET.

The request for information resulted from Complainant C’'s son commencing sessions with a
psychologist who required the information as part of his assessment. An email dated 7
March 2008 addressed to Mr Kevin Gillan acknowledged Ms FH’s refusal to provide the
requested information on the basis the requested information was confidential. The earlier
request to Ms FH may have been verbal but due to time and memories specific details
cannot be confirmed. An email dated 3 June 2008 was then forwarded to Ms FH, Principal
Humpty Doo Primary School by complainant C requesting the information. Ms FH
acknowledged complainant C’'s email on 7 June 2008. Then on 17 June 2008 complainant C
submitted a follow up email seeking progress on her request and carbon copied this to Ms
Maree Garrigan72. On 19 June 2008 complainant C received an email from Ms Maree
Garrigan advising there was no requirement by the NSCP to keep files on students:

and | have been assured that no additional information is kept at Humpty Doo
School. It is possible that the chaplain kept diary notes of his interactions with the
complainant’s son but you will need to confirm that with him....

On 23 June 2008 Ms FH responded by advising a meeting could be arranged with Mr Stuart
McMillan when the chaplaincy programme had been reinstated and all parties had returned
from leave. Complainant C then forwarded another email to Mr Kevin Gillan questioning Ms
FH’s response and confirming the initial request had come from the child psychologist. On 8

" In 2008 DET developed further Policy and Policy Guidelines: Code of Conduct for Schools. The Policy
Guidelines clause 3.3 now specifically states The department has a legal responsibility and is committed to
protecting the privacy of personal information in accordance with the Information Privacy Principles set out in
the Information Act.

2 General Manager, PARCS at the time.
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August 2008 two emails were forwarded to Ms Maree Garrigan, one from the Chairperson
Humpty Doo Primary School Council and the other from complainant C. The email from the
Chairperson was in support of the requested information recognising the sensitivity of the
matter. The email from complainant C stated that Mr Stuart McMillan did have diary notes
and paperwork for her son and requested that these be made available to her. A meeting
was held on 8 August 2008 with Ms Maree Garrigan, complainant C, the child psychologist
and Mr Stuart McMillan which resulted in the provision of the requested documents.

It appears from the events in the previous paragraph that Ms FH was initially unaware of
any information held by the chaplain. Ms FH and Ms Maree Garrigan both failed to
appreciate the requirements under the DET policy with respect to maintaining records as
the NSCP had not commenced at the time the sessions were provided to complainant C’s
son. Therefore Ms Maree Garrigan’s reference to the NSCP not requiring student files to be
held is incorrect on two fronts; the NSCP was not applicable at the time; and the DET policy
on retention of student information did require student files to be held. As a result of this
failure to appreciate the applicable policy | believe that the request by complainant C was
not dealt with promptly and efficiently causing a delay in her son’s much needed
psychological intervention.

This episode also demonstrates the problem caused by the chaplains only having records of
the one-on-one sessions. Those records could be said to be the chaplains’ records. This
chaplain is not an employee of the school or DET. The Information Act only applies to the
Northern Territory Public Sector.

Access to student information by chaplains

Another concern evident during this investigation related to the type of student information
chaplains had access to. There are no regulatory or legislative provisions that authorise the
chaplains to access information about students whose parents have not provided
permission for chaplaincy services. | should also note that in accordance with the
Information Act the schools should exercise discretion in the release of student information
even where parental permission for a service has been obtained.

The question arises: Were school chaplains being given access to all student information in
the school system or was this being restricted in some way?

It was noted that prior to introducing the need for written parental permissions in 2008,
lists of children’s names whose parents requested ‘no contact’ (opt out students) were
being provided to the chaplains by some of the schools. In my office conducting interviews
with the Principals and Assistant Principals it was established that the general procedure
now adopted involved a list/s of children being printed off the school administrative and
management system by administrative staff. The list/s was/were then provided to the
respective chaplain/s.

An exception to the above procedure was Taminmin High School where during his interview
Mr AC, Principal, said that restricted access to the school administrative and management
system was provided to the chaplains so they could update and view parental permission.
The Assistant Principal of the Middle School Ms MM told my office during her interview that
she was not aware of what type of access the chaplains had with respect to Middle School
students. Whereas Ms RM, Assistant Principal of the Senior School said the chaplains did
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not have access to the Senior School students’ information on SAMS’>. From the varying
responses it can only be assumed that this issue of access to information by the chaplains
had not been discussed by the Principal with his Assistant Principals. This is concerning as it
would indicate compromised monitoring of the chaplains’ access. To have update
permissions the chaplains would need access to all student names. If this extends to names
of students for whom parental permission has not been provided | consider this to be
unsatisfactory as the chaplains are NOT employees of DET or the respective schools.

During an interview with Ms SD, Principal,’* she said that her administrative staff provide
the teachers and chaplain/s with two lists, an opt in”> and an opt out’® list. Although at
interview Ms DW, Assistant Principal, said the lists provided to chaplains were only of
children with permission, Ms SD explained that her school commenced providing only a list
of children with permission. This was then extended to the second list of opt out children.

The practice at Girraween Primary School is to release only names of children with
permission to the chaplains.

Mr JT, Principal, said that the current practice at Bees Creek Primary School is if a child is not
on the list held by the chaplain then the child can not participate in the service provided.
The Assistant Principal, Mr KB, however stated ..he”” always carries around his list of
children who can and can’t be involved... On my office questioning this with Mr KB he
confirmed he wasn’t sure whether the chaplain actually had a list of children who were opt
out.

Ms FH, Principal told my office that since the chaplains commencement at Humpty Doo
Primary School she had always operated with an opt in system. As at the time of Ms FH’s
interview she said there were no group, classroom or club sessions provided by the
chaplains, only one-on-one sessions where permission was required.

It is clear that to avoid any issues of confidentiality written parental/guardian permission
should be obtained prior to releasing a student’s name to a chaplain under any
circumstance. Although DET can be commended for introducing a Policy, Policy Guidelines
and Deed of Agreement in relation to chaplaincy services in schools, the level of detail with
respect to procedure is not sufficiently prescriptive.

12.1.5 Access to Students and Location of Services

Until 2008 DET had not developed any formal criteria with respect to chaplains’ accessing
students. In consideration of the parental concerns raised and an internal investigation DET
required all students obtaining chaplaincy services to have written parental consent.
Consent will be discussed under Issue 2; however in this section | will be considering the
situation where parents have submitted a ‘no contact’ letter to Principals and/or chaplains.
Also, consideration will be extended to chaplaincy sessions provided during class time in
addition to the locations of where chaplaincy services were provided.

7 student Administration and Management System.
74 . .
Berry Springs Primary School.
> With parental permission.
e Parents/Guardians have specifically requested ‘no contact’ with the chaplains.
7 Referring to the chaplain.
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Complainant D raised concerns about chaplaincy contacts with her children following her
request for ‘no contact’. Details have been outlined under section 9 - Complainant D of this
report. During an interview with my office Mr Stuart McMillan said that there was only one
occasion when he made contact with complainant D’s son following the ‘no contact’ request;
this was early 2009...it’s the only time I've talked to him. | didn’t say ‘hi’. He was outside the
administration block in a crumpled heap on the ground bawling so | said to him ‘look’ and
there was nobody else around so | said to him ‘look, | know I’'m not supposed to talk to you
but are you OK?’. The counsellor’s office was just inside there and so was the nurses office
inside the door where he was ... my intention was to get somebody and he put his hands up,
so | walked away from him and went into the counsellor to seek assistance.

The second concern complainant D raised about chaplain contact was with respect to her
daughter on or around 30 October 2007. Mr Stuart McMillan told my Investigation Officer:

It might have been orientation day... complainant D’s daughter spoke to the
teacher and she left the room and that’s the procedure in process at the school that
we’ve established... | would have been doing one of the orientation groups... It
hadn’t dawned on me in the orientations that.... she would be part of that. | check
those things now, | check the class list before | do anything. Mind you though, |
don’t have to. The process that we have is that it’s the student’s responsibility to
absence themselves from the class... I’'m saying that’s the Taminmin process
because they’re high school students so they’re responsible enough to decide
whether they can sit there and listen to an orientation thing or whether they feel
concerned about the person that’s doing the presentation.

The ‘no contact’ letter had been provided to Ms SD, Principal, whilst complainant D’s
children attended Berry Springs Primary School. Ms SD said that prior to the orientation at
Taminmin High School she had forwarded details of the ‘no contact’ request to Ms MM,
Assistant Principal Middle School. Ms MM confirmed she had been forwarded the request,
however said:

it just would have been a really bad mistake... And that was before... it was really
obvious that there was a big community backlash against the chaplaincy... it was
totally unintentional and ... we never ever put a kid or a chaplain in that situation
knowingly.

In my view a parent’s request for ‘no contact’ should be respected. What makes it difficult to
comment is the fact that DET have not developed any detailed guidelines around chaplains
and student contact. | am very impressed, however, with the proactive steps taken by one of
the School Principals, Ms SD, to assist her in managing chaplaincy programme risk. The
document developed for Berry Springs Primary School identified the potential for problems,
assessed their risk and outlined action that could be undertaken to minimise these risks.
Extracts of three relevant examples included:

1. What can go wrong: Parent has given notification that the chaplain is not to speak to or
be involved with their child. Chaplain meets child in playground — sorts out a problem
with students and talks to the child. Child reports to parents.

a. What could be done:

e All parents informed that the chaplain works in the school....
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® The chaplain will not conduct programs, pastoral care, etc for students where
permission is not obtained.

®  The chaplain will not be out in the play ground at break times.

e  The lunch time Kids Club will be open only to those who ‘Opt in’.

2. What can go wrong: Chaplain is accused of dealing inappropriately with a child.
a. What could be done:

e Police check, code of conduct signed.
e  Written Parent permission.
®  Room used for individual pastoral care etc — with windows.

3. What can go wrong: Chaplain includes child whose parents have not given permission.
a. What could be done:

e [ist of ‘opt in’ children given to the chaplain. The chaplain is only to be involved
with small groups and individuals from ‘opt in’ list. At no time is the chaplain to
contact others unless the parent makes contact with the chaplain to inquire
about the program etc.

| consider this type of detail to be a step in the right direction. Without casting judgement on
the actual content it is a platform that could be expanded and extended to more problems
and actions for minimising or eliminating risk. Even if the risk does not catalyse into harm it
would be good practice to be able to reassure parents who have concerns that there is a
policy. Parents when considering giving consent could be informed of the substance of the
policy so that their consent is an informed one.

It would be useful for DET to adopt a similar level of detail for inclusion into the Chaplaincy
Services in Schools Policy Guidelines.

Concerns about safety were also raised by parents with respect to venues used by the
chaplains for one-on-one sessions with students. Two questions become evident when
considering this particular issue. Firstly, was the actual location and visibility within the
venue appropriate to ensure safety and secondly was the actual risk associated with one-on-
one sessions acceptable. The latter of these two questions will be discussed under Issue 4.
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The following information was established for each of the schools within the scope of this
investigation during interviews with the respective Principals and chaplains.

School Chaplaincy Service Venue

Humpty Doo Primary School One-on-one sessions Were setting up a demountable near
the music room because it had no
classin it.

Berry Springs Primary School One-on-one sessions Prep room, venue not left to the
discretion of the chaplain/s.

Bees Creek Primary School One-on-one sessions Venue left to the discretion of the

chaplain. No set criteria only that
service is provided on school
grounds. However a teacher resource
room has been allocated to the
chaplain for use.

Taminmin High School One-on-one sessions Block 8, room is half a classroom
(Middle school only) (office).

Girraween Primary School One-on-one sessions No designated venue. Ms Roslyn
McMillan uses the resource room
however Mr Jason Purugganan has
only worked with a couple of kids
one-on-one and that’s more with
angry young boys who often are
sitting under a tree or out on a table
or walking around the oval.

Although there are no existing DET guidelines with respect to suitable venues a level of due
diligence would have been expected from each of the Principals.

| would add to this that it would have been considered highly inappropriate for a child to
obtain individual chaplaincy services off the school campus during school hours without a
parent present. In questioning each of the chaplains it was established that all individual
services provided during school hours were on school campus. One exception was identified
by Ms FH, Principal Humpty Doo Primary School. Ms FH said that a male student was having
one-on-one sessions with Mr Stuart McMillan at school; however his sister was having one-
on-one sessions with Ms Roslyn McMillan off the school grounds. Ms FH explained that as
the services provided to the sister were out of school hours these were arranged by the
parents with the chaplain and not considered part of the NSCP.

12.1.6 Proselytising

Proselytising is the act of attempting to convert people to another opinion and, particularly,
another religion”®.

The Code of Conduct for school chaplains under the NSCP stipulated:

1. chaplains are not to take advantage of their positions to proselytise for their
denomination or religious belief. (Paragraph 9)

78 Wikipedia.
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2. the school chaplain will: respect the rights of parents/quardians to ensure the religious
and moral education of their children is in line with their own convictions. (Paragraph 2)

The NSCP Guidelines further stated under clause 1.5 that a school chaplain should not be
seeking to impose any religious beliefs or persuade an individual toward a particular set of
religious beliefs.

12.1.6.1 Distribution of Bibles at Taminmin High School

During Mr AC’s”® interview he confirmed he was aware of two occasions where bibles were
distributed to students at school assembly, once in our gym (2007) and once in our main
quadrangle area (2008). Mr AC explained that this happened through the Gideon Society®.
Ms MM, Assistant Principal Middle School, Taminmin High School, confirmed that it was the
Gideon Society that distributed the bibles to students. Ms MM was quite adamant that the
two chaplains did not assist in the distribution as it was a project run by her. She said:

Well they come in and ask and the kids have the choice of taking it or not. They
come in every year and do that. So they’re (the chaplains) totally uninvolved and
totally separate.

However when details of the contact person from the Gideon Society was requested by my
office Ms MM responded They just give me, there’s different people, they just ring me every
couple of years and say, you know, we’d like to come in, are you OK with it.

Ms Roslyn McMillan said | don’t think Stuart and | have ever been to Taminmin handing out
bibles or any school for that matter. The Gideon’s went to Taminmin High School at one
stage and the Gideon’s were handing out bibles and | happen to be there at that time.

12.1.6.2 Religious posters

During an interview with Ms SD, Principal Berry Springs Primary School, she said that Ms
Roslyn McMillan had placed religious posters in the prep room which was accessed by
teachers and groups of children. Ms SD said ....I said to take them down because ....... its not
appropriate. You know if a parent’s asked you to talk about God to a particular student then
you can show that particular student but they’re not to be put up. And she said ........ she
wasn’t thinking...... 1 can only reasonably conclude that Ms Roslyn McMillan placed the
poster up with an intention to promote/proselytise her religious beliefs to the school
community. The actions could reasonably be construed as breaching the NSCP Code of
Conduct, however the School Principal managed the situation immediately and
appropriately with minimal impact on the school.

12.1.6.3 Discussions with students

This information has been discussed in detail under Issue 2 Informed Consent.

79 . . . . .

Principal, Taminmin High School.
% Gideon Society is a Christian organization dedicated to distributing copies of the bible in over 80 languages
and 190 countries of the world, most famously in hotel and motel rooms.
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12.1.6.4 Attempted contact with parents

Witness F was infuriated at the fact that she had lodged a ‘no contact’ letter with the school
and two hours later received a phone call from Ms Roslyn McMillan to question her request.
Ms DW, Assistant Principal Berry Springs Primary School, when interviewed confirmed the
call made by Ms Roslyn McMillan. Ms DW said:

| think last year we had a situation where she actually contacted a parent and
Sheila then reprimanded her on that particular and told her that she wasn’t to
contact parents, that we would publicise her being in the school through the
newsletter and then parents could contact her.

Ms SD said she was unaware of the intended contact prior to it happening, however on
receiving an email from witness F, she told Ms Roslyn McMillan not to contact anyone on the
opt out list. DET by email®" to witness F on 4 March 2008 confirmed that they did not
approve of the chaplain contacting Witness F and acknowledged Ms McMillan’s regret of
‘the further angst caused’. Ms McMillan’s actions could be considered as a lack of respect for
parent’s rights. | accept that the call by Ms McMillan was more likely than not an attempt to
change Witness F's mind about the chaplaincy service, which would have been contrary to
the NSCP Guidelines and Code of Conduct.

Complainant A also raised concerns with respect to someone from the church phoning her.
Complainant A said that around:

January, February, Marchish. On Monday night about elevenish | had a lady by the
name of SC ring me at home. She actually runs the bush church out at Humpty Doo
in Challenor Circuit and was speaking on behalf of a KF who’s a pre-school teacher
at Girraween and a member of the congregation of the Uniting Church at Humpty
Doo, who would like to meet with me. ....K’s son and my oldest daughter are friends
at school. I’d been to my daughter’s best friend’s house and K had been there on a
few occasions. I’'m assuming that she felt comfortable enough to approach
someone to approach me, and | declined.

Complainant A said she believed the intention of the proposed meeting was to get the
complainant To leave the........ chaplains alone and to stop pursuing how this came into my .....
schools, as | was dealing with Taminmin as well, and to basically stop making a noise, | was
at the point of ruining everything. It had taken them six years to get in to the schools.

Although the schools and DET do not have any power to direct the actions of people in the
general community, their chaplaincy service guidelines could address this type of issue
reoccurring. Guidelines should be extended to recognise the rights of parents with respect to
pursuing their concerns/complaints through the appropriate/specified channels without
educational staff or chaplains trying to influence their decision.

12.1.7 Dealing with complaints

DET has an existing Complaints Policy developed on or prior to 2007. The policy identified
relevant principles to be adhered during the complaints process and also provided
information on lodging a complaint. The Policy however relates to all complaints and does
not differentiate for chaplaincy services.

8t Acting General Manager Palmerston Rural, DET (previously Department of Employment, Education and
Training)
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9.4 LODGING A COMPLAINT

a)

A person may complain verbally or in writing to a Principal, general manager, director or line
manager or, in writing to the Chief Executive. If a verbal complaint is complex or very serious
the complainant may be required to restate the complaint in writing or agree to sign a written
summary prepared by the Principal, general manager, director or line Manager. Complaints
referring to a particular school matter should be referred initially to the Principal of that
school, or the relevant School Manager.

Note: a written complaint that contains personal abuse, inflammatory statements or material
that is clearly intended to intimidate will not be addressed and the complainant will be
informed accordingly. Similarly, a verbal complaint that contains personal abuse, inflammatory
statements or comments of a threatening nature may be terminated at the discretion of the
staff member taking the complaint after firstly warning complainants of that intention.

9.7.2 PRINCIPALS

maintaining confidentiality and impartiality in dealing with each matter
ensuring, wherever appropriate, that concerns and complaints are resolved at the school level

developing and implementing a process for registering, responding to and managing parent
enquiries, concerns and complaints

ensuring that the process for managing complaints includes recording and monitoring of
complaints and their outcomes to enable improvements to be identified and implemented

ensuring that enquiries, concerns and complaint procedures are communicated clearly to
parents and community members

ensuring that school policies and procedures are modified, where necessary, to address areas
of concern

ensuring that processes are consistent with all relevant Department of Employment,
Education and Training policies

ensuring that complainants and respondents are aware that they can have a friend or adviser
present during any discussion, and

escalating the complaint, where appropriate, to Director Schools or Schools Managers for
either resolution or, if the complaint has possible disciplinary implications for an employee, to
the Chief Executive or nominated delegate to manage.

Principals and Assistant Principals from the schools within the scope of this investigation
were interviewed about their complaints handling processes. The processes appeared to be
fairly consistent in that parents were able to raise their concerns with the Principals and/or
Assistant Principals and if they were not satisfied with the response the parent could then
take their matter to the school council or the General Manager for their school area.

12.1.7.1 Humpty Doo Primary School

Ms FH during her interview whilst referring to how she managed complaints about the
chaplaincy service said:

That’s difficult cause they didn’t come to me with their concerns, they emailed
Federal politicians, State politicians, DET Executive, school council members, staff
and the senior leadership team at Humpty Doo. So it became increasingly hard and
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there was all sorts of accusations, there were emails that you couldn’t make sense
of talking about dead puppies, things like that, that were quite, yeah. It has been
quite horrendous for myself... One Friday | had 7 emails in an hour from
complainant A.

Parental complaints did include Ms FH. She failed to provide sufficient response at the
school level, which in my view escalated parental concerns®®>. An example of this was where
Complainant C in discussion with Ms FH and two other staff members referred to Mr GM
showing photos of alleged bullying offenders on a computer. Ms FH challenged the parent
about Mr GM’s actions. The complainant felt that Ms FH denied Mr GM had done that to
undermine the complainant’s credibility.

During his interview with my office Mr GM said that it was quite possible that he did show
the respective photos on the school computer as they were trying to identify the alleged
bully. As minor as the matter was it was escalated to the Executive Director, DET as it had
not been dealt with appropriately at the school level. Rather than denying Mr GM’s actions,
Ms FH could have simply asked Mr GM, in which case it was more than likely his response
would have been similar to that provided to my office.

In DET’s response to the draft investigation report Ms FH said:

I was unaware that SAMS had photos of students attached until after this meeting,
it was newly put on by the Network Manager. | did ask GM about the incident and
he was unsure if it occurred. | didn’t feel | needed to update complainant C about
these findings as the meeting covered more serious matters concerning the
wellbeing of her son, and | felt this was the school’s and her priority.”

Complainant A said that around the middle of 2008:

we had a subcommittee at Humpty Doo Primary School, it was the chaplaincy
subcommittee, made up of myself, Complainant B and Complainant C. | think, once
again, it was a placation, we were foisted off onto our own little group. Basically, |
guess, we were being a pain in certain people’s posteriors and they figured if they
could send us off on to some little group that we would be out of everyone’s hair.....

An email from complainant A to the Chairperson of the Humpty Doo Primary School Council
dated 10 September 2008 said that the working group consisting of the three complainants
was looking to provide balance and safe guards within HDPS. The complainant went on to say
within her email:

At no time prior to last night was it brought to the working groups attention that
these in principle guidelines had to first satisfy the separate LSCC comprised of
members with vested interests in nullifying the HDPS working groups efforts to
achieve a child safe NSCP in my children’s school. The emailed response from the
School Council Chairperson stated The Local Chaplaincy Committee (LCC) appears
to be a new body and as it hasn’t been raised at council, it isn’t really a committee

% The statement provided by Ms FH within DET’s response to the draft investigation report stated ‘ As the
emails were very public my General Manager was managing myself and the responses to the emails. All emails
that required a response from me was responded to. Many emails were responded to from Noelene McCormick
in the early stages as well. Then more official letters were sent. | didn’t send emails etc unless they were vetted
or discussed with DET Executive.’
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of council and is (apparently) a reference group of the chaplains. Until | meet with
them, | don’t have much of an idea of what they’re about.

DET recognised Local Chaplaincy Committee’s within the schools in the Guidelines for
Chaplaincies in Northern Territory Government Schools 2004, DET in their response to the
draft investigation report said the guidelines were not applicable. The respective guidelines
under clause 2.2 define Local Chaplaincy Committee as ...the body approved by the School
Council, and established in conjunction with Christian Churches and societies recognised by the
NTCC*, concerned to support a Chaplain in that school. Clause 4.3.5 also suggests that the
membership of a Local Chaplaincy Committee should ideally include:

® the Principal of the school or nominee

e representatives of local Christian denominations (recognised by NTCC) with students in
the school

® nominees of the School Council — at least one teacher from the school and one parent

e gt least two students in the school or recent past students along with other community
representatives, and

® where applicable a representative of the employing agency.

In fact one of the parties to the Taminmin High School agreement with the chaplains prior to
the NSCP was the Local Chaplaincy Committee.

It is evident that the Local Chaplaincy Committee was not established in accordance with the
respective guidelines given the School Council Chairperson stated in his email that the Local
Chaplaincy Committee had not been raised at council nor was it a committee of the council.

The facts may be construed as a failed attempt to resolve parental concerns through
distracting their attentions to non-genuine purposes. This is what complainant A believed
and her belief was in my view reasonable. With the introduction of a chaplaincy service
complaints procedure and dispute resolution process within the DET Chaplaincy Service
Guidelines it would be anticipated these types of situations be avoided and parents could
feel genuinely empowered by following the specified procedures.

Under the new 2009 policy, relating to chaplaincy services within the schools, the school
council has now been provided with the ability to determine the appropriateness of a sub-
committee. The sub-committee can be formed to plan, implement or manage the chaplaincy
service. Should such a sub-committee exist, the school council, in consultation with the
Principal is responsible for determining the membership and terms of reference of this group.

Attempted industrial action targeted at children of complainants’
On 18 November 2008 my office was contacted by complainant A with concerns relating to
proposed action to be taken by teachers affecting children of complainants but not other

students. Complainant A wrote:

It is my unqualified belief that as a result of my having followed due process and
having lodged my complaint with the Office, my children who attend HDPS have

 Northern Territory Council of Churches.
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now been made the targets of retribution by party with a vested interest in seeing
the return of the NSCP to my children’s school. Specifically AEUNT rep SP, WW,
JW** Taminmin teacher AH with the consent of Principal FH who offered to write
the letters to the parents of children who were to be excluded in Union endorsed
action. Independent MLA Gerry Wood has since issued a media release supporting
my belief and endorsing the proposed actions.

My office forwarded a copy of complainant A’s email to DET’s Legal Services seeking an
explanation. The response provided that Ms Garrigan (General Manager PARCS), after
checking with the Acting Executive Director Schools, Mr Alan Green, also advised the
Principal of Humpty Doo Primary School (the School) that it was the department’s view that
the action proposed by the AEU(NT) was not lawful and the Principal was asked to call her
staff together to advise them accordingly..... Mr Green also telephoned the President-elect of
the AEU(NT), who attended the meeting at the school, to advise him that it was the
department’s view that it would not countenance its teachers withdrawing their services in
relation to any children of the school and that the department’s teachers were not
authorised to take such action in relation to any children enrolled at the school. As a result of
DET’s Executive action, the matter was resolved to the complainant’s satisfaction. However
had the Principal dealt with the parental concerns and matter appropriately in the first
instance it would have been less likely to have escalated to the stage it did.

There was an entry made by Mr Stuart McMillan in his school notes on 18 September 2008,
which followed a meeting with Ms FH, one of the teachers and the School Council
Chairpersonss. The entry recorded Rung 2.09pm EAS down Friday 9am Union Friday pm. This
evidence supports the allegation that involvement of the Union was not entirely free of
influence by Ms FH and Mr Stuart McMillan.

12.1.7.2 Berry Springs Primary School

The Assistant Principal, Ms DW told my office that complaints may be directed either to the
Principal or herself and if parents are not satisfied with the response they may take their
matter to the General Manager.

Witness D said she recalled complainant D attending a school council meeting to put forward
her concerns about the chaplaincy service. The witness said the council had treated the
parent quite rudely as they didn’t listen to her and gave her a hard time even though she
presented well thought out issues. It could not be said that the complaint process failed the
witness and complainant, but rather the conduct of the school council. The conduct is a
matter for the Principal to address directly with the school council. As part of the process the
Principal should have confirmed the next step to the witness and complainant if they were
not satisfied with the response/conduct by the school council.

8 Humpty Doo Primary School teacher

% The statement provided by Ms FH in DET’s response to the draft investigation report claimed ‘Meeting on 18
Sept at Taminmin High School was the Local Chaplaincy Committee (as per Kevin Gillan’s recommendation)
meeting to inform Stuart McMillan and also the School Council Chair that Kevin Gillan had instructed that Stuart
McMillan was not to access Humpty Doo Primary premises. | don’t know what the union reference was except it
may be a sub-branch meeting. Staff at the school felt strongly that they were being harassed and bullied by
parents in the community and went to their union for support. | didn’t offer to write any letters to the parents of
the children to be excluded as I couldn’t legally do this. Alan Green did advise me teachers could take out
restraining orders against harassing and abusive parents.’
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12.1.7.3 Bees Creek Primary School

At in